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Sustainability

Ensure a sustainable business that 
meets stakeholders’ expectations

Our Strategy

Our Vision & Mission
Our vision is to achieve and maintain leadership of the Jamaican Tobacco Industry in order 
to create long term shareholder value.

Four elements around which all our efforts revolve are Growth, Productivity, Sustainability 
and a Winning Organization.

The four building blocks of our strategy are Growth, Productivity, Sustainability and 
developing a Winning Organization.  These are interdependent and essential for creating 
shareholder value, delivering profit growth and long term business sustainability.

Growth

Understanding and delivering 
enjoyable consumer moments

Winning Organisation

Great people, great teams,  
great place to work

Productivity

Effectively deploy resources to increase 
profits and generate funds
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Notice is hereby given that the Fifty-Second Annual General Meeting of the Stockholders of CARRERAS LIMITED will 
be held at the Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5 on Wednesday, September 3, 2014 at 2:00 
p.m. for the following purposes:

1. To receive the Audited Financial 
Statements and the Reports of 
the Auditors and Directors for the 
year ended March 31, 2014

 To consider and (if thought fit) 
pass the following Resolution:

 "THAT the Audited Financial 
Statements and the Reports of 
the Auditors and Directors for 
the year ended March 31, 2014 be 
and are hereby adopted."

2. To appoint Auditors and 
authorise the Directors to fix the 
remuneration of the Auditors

 To consider and (if thought fit) 
pass the following Resolution:

 "THAT KPMG, Chartered 
Accountants, having agreed to 
continue in office as Auditors, 
be and are hereby appointed 
Auditors of the Company 
to hold office until the next 
Annual General Meeting at a 
remuneration to be fixed by the 
Directors of the Company." 

3.   To elect Directors  

(a) The Directors due to retire 
in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 84 of 
the Articles of Association 
are Mr. Michael Bernard and 
Mr. Oliver Holmes, who being 
eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election. 

 To consider and (if thought fit) 
pass the  following Resolutions:

(i)  "THAT Mr. Michael 
Bernard be and is hereby 
re-elected a Director of 
the Company."

(ii) "THAT Mr. Oliver Holmes 
be and is hereby re-
elected a Director of the 
Company."

Notice of 
Annual General Meeting

(b) Mr. Eduardo Castaneda was appointed as a Director since the 
last Annual General Meeting of the Company.

 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolution:

 "THAT Mr. Eduardo Castaneda be and is hereby elected a 
Director of the  Company."

4.   To confirm the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors

 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolution:

 "THAT the amount shown in the Financial Statements of the Company 
for the year ended March 31, 2014 for emoluments received by the 
Non-Executive Directors for their services as Directors be and is 
hereby approved." 

5. To consider any other business which may properly be transacted 
at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Gavin Jordan
Company Secretary

Registered Office
Twickenham Park
Spanish Town

May 28, 2014

Important Notice for Members who are not able to attend:  

Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this 
meeting is also entitled  to appoint one or more proxies to attend and 
vote in his/her stead.  

Such proxies need not be members of the Company.

A suitable Form of Proxy is enclosed.       

Form of Proxy must be lodged with the Registrar and Transfer Office, 
Sagicor Bank Corporate Trust Service Unit, 60 Knutsford Boulevard, 
Kingston 5 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time 
appointed for holding the meeting.     

       

~

~
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LOCATION   
CARRERAS LIMITED
Twickenham Park, Spanish Town
Telephone:  749 9800
Fax:  749 9810
E-Mail:  Carreras@bat.com
Website: www.carrerasltd.com

LEADERSHIP TEAM
NAME   DESIGNATION

DEPOTS
Twickenham Park, Spanish Town
6 Allan Avenue, Port Antonio
1-2 Villa Road, Mandeville
74 Main Street, Ocho Rios
26 Humber Avenue, Montego Bay
3b Wharf Road, Morant Bay
Dunbar Plaza, Savanna-la-mar
5 Oxford Park Avenue, Kingston 5

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Richard Lewis - Chairman
Michael Bernard
Eduardo Castaneda
Amanda Cavill de Zavaley
Oliver Holmes
Gavin Jordan
Hon. William McConnell, O.J.
Marcus Steele

COMPANY SECRETARY Gavin Jordan

REGISTERED OFFICE Twickenham Park, Spanish Town

AUDITORS KPMG
 6 Duke Street, Kingston

BANKERS The Bank of Nova Scotia  
 Jamaica Limited
 Scotiabank Centre
 Cnr. of Duke & Port Royal Streets
 Kingston

REGISTRAR AND 
TRANSFER OFFICE Sagicor Bank Corporate 
 Trust Service Unit, 
    60 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5

Marcus Steele

Gavin Jordan 

Denver McDonald

Christopher Brown

Lisa Belnavis-Edwards

Managing Director

Finance Director 

Trade Marketing & Distribution Manager

Corporate and Regulatory Affairs Manager

Human Resource Manager

Corporate Data

~
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Dear Shareholders:

T
he year 2013-2014 was 
one of renewed vigour for 
Carreras. Your Company 
affirmed its resilience 
during the past year, de-
spite a very challenging 

regulatory environment. We faced 
the introduction of tobacco control 
regulations, including new labelling 
guidelines and a public place smoking 
ban which negatively impacted our 
trading environment. Additionally, as 
a result of the weak economy and im-
plementation of stringent economic 
reform policies and programmes as 
part of  the Government's drive to-
ward economic reform, supported 
by the 4-year extended fund facil-
ity from the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF), our trading environment 
was characterized by significant cur-
rency devaluation, relatively high 
inflation and declining consumer 
and trade purchasing power. These 
factors, plus a growing illicit trade 
in cigarettes and the impact of the 
introduction of tobacco control reg-
ulations, all combined to constrict 
our top line results. While our net 
profit of $4.0 billion showed a 36% 
decrease when compared to the 
previous year, the underlying profit 
from the core business, excluding 
non-routine transactions (interest 
from CCJ settlement in 2014 and dis-
tribution of pension surplus 2013), 
remained flat when compared to the 
prior year. This indicates your Com-
pany's focus on delivering sustain-
able profits year after year. 

Within this challenging business 
environment, your Company 
delivered operating revenues of 
$10.34 billion, representing a 16% 
decrease compared to the prior year. 

We have, however, continued to demonstrate our commitment to 
delivering shareholder value with a dividend payout this financial year, 
totaling $3.42 billion or $7.04 per share. A payment of $2.12 dividend 
per share was a result of a non-routine transaction (pension surplus and 
CCJ settlement interest). 

During the year, the Jamaican dollar experienced a further devaluation 
against the U.S. dollar, by 10.8%.  Despite the impact of this devaluation, 
and overall inflation during the fiscal year of 8.30%, Management's 
concentration on cost constraint led to containment of overheads to 
$2,083.7 million, a minimal 2% increase over the prior year. 

Shareholders, I want to take this opportunity to acknowledge 
the tremendous work of the Management Team, who assiduously 
worked towards ensuring that the Company's concerns and position 
on the regulations, from introduction to the gazetting of the final 
amendments, were at the forefront of the debate and throughout the 
entire review and consultation process instituted by the Minister of 
Health. The Company, through its own public activism, and continuous 

Richard LEWIS 
Chairman

Report to Stockholders
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Report to Stockholders cont’d.

engagement of key stakeholders, 
and following its full participation 
in the review and consultation 
process along with several other key 
private sector groupings, saw the 
Parliamentary Committee charged 
with reviewing the regulations, 
voting in clear majorities for the 
following key amendments to be 
made:

n Allowance of designated 
outdoor smoking areas

n Reduction of the Graphic Health 
Warning (GHW) on packs from 
75% to 60%

n Extension of transitional period 
for the introduction of GHW 
from 6 to 9 months

n Removal of GHW from Point of 
Sale

n Exemption of private residences 
and vehicles

n Reduction of fines and removal 
of criminal sanctions

n Removal of the requirement for 
health warnings on individual 
sticks of cigarettes

These amendments represent more 
practical and balanced tobacco 
control measures which the 
Company has long been on record as 
supporting and are no doubt critical 
in protecting the rights of smokers 
and non-smokers alike, as well as the 
Company's use of trademarks and 
intellectual property rights.

Our customers are one of our most 
important stakeholders and we 
strive to be consistently relevant to 
their changing business needs. We 
therefore embarked on a programme 
to prepare them to deal with the 
new tobacco control regulations.  
We have assisted in first keeping 
them abreast of the new regulatory 
requirements, and more importantly, 
operating within the context of a 
new regulatory environment through 
creating an understanding of where 

and how they can accommodate smoking outdoors, as well as the 
new labelling requirement for all tobacco products.  To date, the 
feedback from our customers on our tobacco regulations sensitization 
programmes have been positive and we remain committed to 
continuously enhancing our partnership with them through these 
interactions.

The Management Team's strategic priority in working with the 
authorities toward stemming the illicit trade in cigarettes remained 
focused and undaunted. Shareholders would have seen since the start 
of the year, a number of media campaigns highlighting the Company's 
grave concern about the significant upsurge in the presence, quantity 
and distribution of counterfeit Craven "A" within the Jamaican market, 
and our warning to customers, consumers and the public in general of 
the serious implications associated with trading in and possession of 
the counterfeit product. We believe these campaigns were effective 
in raising the awareness of the presence of counterfeit cigarettes and 
in helping to deter customers and consumers from selling and buying 
the illegal product. However, we continue to implore the relevant 
law enforcement agencies and in particular the Jamaica Customs 
Department, to bolster their port monitoring and border control 
apparatus towards clamping down on the apparent ease at which the 
counterfeit and contraband cigarettes enter the local market. We, 
however believe that there is a significantly greater appreciation by 
Law enforcement agencies and the Customs Department of the loss 
in Government's revenue as a result of the illicit trade in cigarettes, 
which we estimate amounts to just under $2.0 billion. We therefore 
thank them for their continued partnership with us as we look forward 
to heightened effort in disrupting this illegal trade. 

Despite the many challenges, Carreras remains confident in the future. 
Our brands are strong and our consumers remain engaged. Within this 
dynamic business and regulatory environment, we continue to innovate, 
using database marketing techniques to remain close to customers and 
consumers. We also sharpened our marketing executions and continue 
to leverage the strength of our brands.

Additionally, our trade marketing and distribution activities remained a 

Ensure a sustainable business that 
meets stakeholders’ expectations
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fundamental area of focus, and as we 
do year after year, we implemented 
initiatives geared at developing 
our people and augmenting our 
systems and processes to enhance 
the efficiency and effectiveness of 
our product and customer service 
delivery. 

We demonstrated unwavering 
support to nation-building by 
keeping our scholarship programme 
at the forefront of our corporate 
social responsibility activities, with 
over 40 scholarships awarded to 
students at the tertiary level.

For the third consecutive year, we 
were encouraged by the award of 
Best Performing Company from 
the Jamaica Stock Exchange Best 
Practices Awards from a field of over 
50 companies, an acknowledgement 
of our unmitigated focus on 
productivity and delivering 
shareholder value. 

This continuous recognition of 
superb performance is directly 
attributable to our dedicated 
team. Our motivated and highly 
skilled employees are a result of our 
rigourous recruitment processes 
and our reward systems which 
have resulted in longevity, a prized 
attribute of any successful company.

Shareholders, by now you are well aware of some of the changes to 
the Board, which took place during the year.  We welcomed Messers. 
Eduardo Castaneda and Gavin Jordan, who were appointed to the 
board in November 2013 and August 2013, respectively.  Gavin is 
Finance Director and Company Secretary of Carreras and Eduardo is 
the Corporate and Regulatory Affairs Director for British American 
Tobacco Caribbean and Central America (BATCCA).  We look forward 
to their contribution and wish them every success during their time 
with us.  During the year we also thanked and bade farewell to Patrice 
Gray, Nicholas Hales and Federico Jenkins.  We thank them for their fine 
contribution to Carreras and wish them well in their future endevours.

In closing, I want to thank my fellow Directors for their guidance, 
continued diligence and expertise as we continue to work together in 
guiding the Company through rapidly changing times. 

Heartfelt thanks and tremendous appreciation to our customers and 
consumers for their confidence in our Company and its brands. Despite 
the many challenges presented and those to come, we are confident 
that our strategic direction will keep us focused and equal to the task 
ahead and we wish to emphasize our commitment to maintaining a 
mutually beneficial partnership. 

Finally, I want to commend Carreras' staff.  Our strong performance 
over these past years is due to your hard work, dedication, loyalty and 
commitment to excellence.  Together, we will face the coming year 
with optimism and renewed vigour as it is our hope that Jamaica's path 
to economic growth will augur well for the business. 

Shareholders, your Company's strength, dynamism and agility as 
demonstrated by its over 50 years of stellar performance, coupled 
with your trust and support, make us confident that Carreras will 
remain strong for many years to come.

Richard LEWIS 
Chairman

~
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Board of Directors

Michael Bernard

Richard Lewis

Marcus Steele

Amanda Cavill de Zavaley
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Amanda Cavill de Zavaley

Richard Lewis Michael Bernard
Mr. Richard Lewis was appointed 
as Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Carreras Limited on 
July 1, 2011.   He is also Chairman of 
Trinidad & Tobago Government 
Advisory Council for Competi- 
tiveness & Innovation.  Richard, 
a Trinidadian national, is 
currently General Manager/
Director of Label House Group 
Limited, the leading brand 
identity and packaging solutions 
Company in the Caribbean. 
Mr. Lewis serves as a board 
member of Republic Finance & 
Merchant Bank Limited, Beacon 
Insurance Company Limited, 
Republic Securities Limited, 
Ceramic Trinidad Limited, and 
Prestige Business Publications 
Limited, publisher of "Who's 
Who in Trinidad & Tobago 
Business" magazine. He is a past 
president of Trinidad & Tobago 
Manufacturers' Association. Mr. 
Lewis received his HBA in 1974 
from the Richard Ivey School of 
Business, University of Western 
Ontario. 

Mr. Michael Bernard first joined Carreras Group Limited in 1988 and 
in 1991 he was appointed General Manager of the Jamaica Biscuit 
Company. In 1995 he assumed concurrently, the positions of Managing 
Director of two subsidiaries; the Cigarette Company of Jamaica 
Limited and Agricultural Products of Jamaica Limited.  In 1997, he 
was appointed to the Carreras Board of Directors until 2000 when 
he was seconded to the USA subsidiary of British American Tobacco, 
Brown and Williamson Tobacco Corporation. He regained leadership 
of the Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited at the end of 2001 
and was re-appointed to the Board of Carreras Group Limited in 
2004. In 2005, he was appointed Managing Director of Carreras 
Limited, the role he held until retirement in 2010.  Michael currently 
serves as Executive Chairman of Peak Bottling Company Limited and 
Chairman of Spike Industries Limited. He also serves on the Board of 
Directors of Salada Foods Limited, Jamaica International Insurance 
Company, New Transport Group Limited, Event 2 Event Limited and 
Sterling Investments Limited. He is a graduate of Jamaica College 
where he serves as Chairman of the Board of Management.  He holds 
a Bachelor of Arts and Bachelor of Science summa cum laude degrees 
in Business Administration and Forest Management respectively, from 
Washington State University, and a Master of Business Administration 
from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration. Michael 
is the 2010 recipient of the Carlton Alexander Award for Excellence 
and is also a Fellow of the Jamaica Institute of Management.  He is 
a philanthropist, a former national youth cricket representative, a 
significant owner and breeder of thoroughbred horses and is the 2012 
Leading Owner of Thoroughbred Horses in Jamaica.

Mr. Marcus Steele, currently serves as Managing Director of Carreras 
Limited. He is a graduate of St. Jago High School and is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant with a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting 
from the University of the West Indies and a Master of Business 
Administration from Florida International University. Marcus also 
completed an Executive Programme in General Management at the 
Harvard Business School. Marcus first joined Carreras Group Limited 
in the Company's Tobacco division, Cigarette Company of Jamaica 
Limited, in the capacity of the Company's Management Accountant 
in April 1998. In June 1999, he was promoted to Finance Planning 
Manager and later appointed Marketing Finance Manager in June 2001.  
In May 2002, Mr. Steele was appointed Finance Planning Manager for 
Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited with overall responsibility for 
management of Marketing and Operations Finance. In March 2004, 
Marcus was seconded to British American Tobacco Caribbean and 
Central America's Area Office in Costa Rica as the Country Readiness 
Manager for the Caribbean with the responsibility for leading the 
migration of the Caribbean legal entities into the regional shared 
service centre. In July 2005, he was appointed Finance Planning 
and Reporting Manager for BAT's operations in the Caribbean and 
Central America where he focussed on financial reporting, strategy 
and planning. Marcus was then appointed to the Carreras Board of 
Directors on October 1, 2007 and served as Finance Director and 
Company Secretary up until August 2011 when he was seconded to the 
Trinidad branch of another BAT company, Carisma Marketing Services 
Limited, in the position of Country Manager with responsibility for the 
general management of the Company's businesses across 24 markets 
in the English, French and Dutch Caribbean. He was reappointed as a 
Director of Carreras Limited on April 1, 2013. Marcus also serves as a 
Director of Proven Wealth Transition Limited, formerly First Global 
Financial Services Limited.  He served previously as a Director of 
Demerara Tobacco. He enjoys reading, dancing, cricket, football and 
athletics and has two children, son, Marquis and daughter, Sonique.

Mrs. Amanda Cavill de Zavaley 
was appointed to the Board of 
Directors of Carreras Limited 
on November 8, 2012. She is 
currently the Head of Finance 
for BAT Caribbean and Central 
America.  Amanda has had 
an extensive international 
career in BAT over the last 
25 years, assuming the role 
of Finance Director in several 
markets including Venezuela, 
Bangladesh, Chile and Malawi. 
She was previously assigned to 
the BAT Caribbean and Central 
American Area as Area Head of 
Treasury and Projects in 1997 
and as Head of Finance of the 
Caribbean cluster during the 
period 1998-2002.  Amanda 
is a qualified Chartered 
Management Accountant and 
has a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Management Science from 
the Loughborough University 
in the United Kingdom. She is a 
British National and is bilingual. 

Marcus Steele 
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Board of Directors cont’d.

Hon. William McConnell

Oliver W. Holmes

Gavin Jordan

Eduardo Castañeda
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Oliver W. Holmes

Gavin Jordan

Mr. Gavin Jordan joined Carreras as Finance Director and 
Company Secretary and was appointed to the Board of 
Directors in August 2013. He is a highly accomplished and 
results oriented senior executive with over ten years' 
experience in financial planning, financial management, and 
strategic planning.  Gavin previously held several senior finance 
roles at First Global Bank Ltd., First Global Financial Services 
Ltd. and Grace Kennedy Financial Group, the last being Chief 
Financial Officer for First Global Group and Divisional Chief 
Financial Officer at Grace Kennedy Financial Group. During his 
tenure, he efficiently streamlined operations and implemented 
solutions to increase bottom line profit, as well as developed 
and implemented financial controls that resulted in increased 
productivity.  Gavin is a graduate of Jamaica College High 
School and is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA). He holds 
a Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting and Economics 
from the University of the West Indies and a Master of Science 
Degree in Financial Management from the University of London 
in the United Kingdom. He is a member of the American Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and lists his hobbies as 
playing music, basketball, and chess. He is married to Tameka 
Jordan and has two daughters, Madison and Makenzy.

Mr. Eduardo Castañeda was appointed 
to the Board of Directors of Carreras 
Limited on November 6, 2013. He 
is currently the Corporate and 
Regulatory Affairs Director for British 
American Tobacco Caribbean and 
Central America (BATCCA).  Eduardo, 
a Colombian national, first joined the 
BAT group in 1997 and since then, 
has held several senior management 
positions in Marketing and Corporate 
and Regulatory Affairs across various 
Central American Markets including 
El Salvador, Guatemala and Costa 
Rica. In 2007, he assumed the position 
as Country Manager for Honduras 
and Guatemala, and in 2011, he was 
seconded for 2 years as General 
Manager for the Caucasus.  Eduardo 
enjoys spending time with his family, 
travelling, learning about new 
cultures, socializing and the arts.

Eduardo Castañeda

Mr. Oliver Holmes was appointed to 
the Board of Directors of Carreras Ltd. 
on February 6, 2007.  He is Managing 
Director of Capital Options, a 
financial advisory firm he founded 
in 1997.  Prior to establishing Capital 
Options, Mr. Holmes was the Chief 
Operating Officer of Manufacturers 
Merchant Bank Ltd. and prior to 
that Vice President of Citibank N. 
A.  He served as a senior manager in 
virtually all aspects of Citibank and 
its subsidiaries operations in Jamaica, 
including Vice President - Corporate 
Finance, Financial Controller - Citibank 
Jamaica and its subsidiaries, Corporate 
Banking Group Head, Managing 
Director - Citifinance Limited, 
Manager - Centralized Operations 
and Chief Inspector for the Caribbean 
region. During his career at Citibank, 
he led or participated in many notable 
transactions in the Jamaican and 
international markets.  In addition 
to Carreras, he sits on the Boards 
of Allied Insurance Brokers Limited, 
Pulse Investments Ltd. and Caribbean 
Basin Investors Ltd.  Mr. Holmes is a 
Member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants. He attended the 
University of the West Indies where he 
earned a BSc. degree in Management 
Studies (Hons.) and a M.Sc. degree in 
Accounting.  He is a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Jamaica.  Mr. Holmes lists his hobbies 
as cricket, golf, squash, running and 
reading. 

Hon. William McConnell  
Hon. William "Billy" McConnell, OJ, was appointed to the Board 
of Directors on February 6, 1997. He is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant and is a member of the Jamaican Institute of 
Chartered Accountants.  He was previously the Managing 
Director of both Lascelles deMercado & Company Limited and 
Wray & Nephew Group Limited until his retirement in 2011.  
He has also served on many Boards most notably as Chairman 
of both the Petroleum Corporation of Jamaica and Petrojam 
Limited and as a Director of the Sugar Industry Authority. He is 
Chairman of the Sugar Manufacturing Corporation of Jamaica 
Limited and  is a Director of the Jamaica Observer Limited, 
Spirits Pool Association Limited, Caribbean Molasses Company 
Limited, Dolphin Cove Limited and the University Hospital of 
the West Indies – Private Wing Limited.  He is the recipient of 
the Order of Distinction – Commander Class and the Order 
of Jamaica for outstanding services in the development of 
commerce and export (1996) and for distinguished leadership 
in Business and Export Industry  (2006) respectively and 
conferred with the Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws (LLD) 
in 2010.
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Financial Results  
 12 Months ended 12 Months ended
 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013
 $000s $000s

Profit before income taxation amounted to: 5,184 ,471        8,852,816
Income tax for the year (1,1 8 1  ,296)       (2,618,582 )
Total profit after tax 4,003 ,1 75 6,234,234
Less: minority interest (       3 ,183)                  (      175 )
Net profit for the year attributable to stockholders 3,999 ,992 6,234,059                      
Revenue reserves at beginning of year 1,669 ,080 925,1 1 1
Total revenue reserves  5,669 ,072 7,159,170

Appropriations have been made as follows:    

Dividends ( 3,418 ,898) (5,723,338 )

Deferred tax on reserves of  
    subsidiaries in liquidation (     30 ,504) (        3,002 )
Defined benefit plan actuarial  
    gains/losses, net of tax (      16 ,950) 236,250
Transfers 1,870 ,762 -
Transfers tax (     24 ,075) -
Distribution to non-controlling interests                             1 ,400 -
 4,050 ,807             1,669,080
Earnings per stock unit for year:    
Normal operations  547.85¢ 551.16¢

Non-routine transactions                                    276.15¢ 733.05 ¢
  824.00¢ 1,284.21 ¢
Dividends and Distributions

Directors’ Report
The Directors are pleased to submit their Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2014. The following are selected highlights:

The following payments were made during the year:
     First quarter ended June 30, 2013       -  $0.94 per stock unit (Special interim distribution)
   -  $1.30 per stock unit (Ordinary)   
    Second quarter ended September 30, 2013    -  $1.00 per stock unit (Ordinary)
 Third quarter ended December 31, 2013  -  $1.00 per stock unit (Ordinary)
     Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2014  -  $1.18 per stock unit (Special interim distribution)
  -  $1.62 per stock unit (Ordinary)
    
An interim dividend of $1.75 per stock unit to be paid on June 26, 2014.

Auditors

KPMG have expressed their willingness to continue in office and offer themselves for re-appointment.

Directors

Messrs. Nicholas Hales and Federico Jenkins resigned and Mr. Eduardo Castaneda was appointed on 
November 6, 2013.

The Directors due to retire in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association are Messrs. 
Michael Bernard and Oliver Holmes who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Gavin Jordan
Secretary

~
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Ten Largest Stockholders
as at March 31, 2014

                   Stock Units Held

Rothmans Holdings (Caricom) Limited 244,650,826

Sagicor PIF Equity Fund 28,819,687 

National Insurance Fund 21,966,721

L.B.J. Overseas Limited 10,053,450

SJIML A/C 3119 9,279,436

JCSD Trustee Services Ltd. – SIGMA OPTIMA 7,510,519

Cheston Jamaica Limited 6,199,389

Medsalco Limited 5,049,640

NCB Insurance Co. Ltd. A/C WT109 4,750,000 

Grace Kennedy Limited Pension Scheme 4,731,434

Total 343,011,102 

     

Directors’ stockholding as at March 31, 2014
 Stock Units Held

Mr.   Michael Bernard Nil

Mr.   Eduardo Castaneda Nil

Mrs. Amanda Cavill de Zavaley Nil  

Mr.   Oliver Holmes Nil

Mr.   Gavin Jordan Nil

Mr.   Richard Lewis Nil

Hon. William McConnell, O.J.               Nil                        

Mr.   Marcus Steele Nil

There has been no change in the Directors’ stockholding interests occurring between the end of the 

Company’s financial year and the date of the Notice convening the Annual General Meeting.

At no time during or at the end of the financial year has any Director had any material interest in 

any contract or arrangement in relation to the business of the Company.

~
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Corporate Governance

Board Mission

T
he Board of Directors of 
Carreras Limited is collec-
tively responsible for the 
success of the Company.

The board remains 
committed to providing 

entrepreneurial leadership of  
Carreras within a framework of 
prudent and effective controls 
which enables risk to be assessed and 
managed. The board is responsible 
for overseeing the Company's 
strategic aims; ensuring that the 
necessary financial and human 
resources are in place for the 
Company to meet its objectives; 
and reviewing management's 
performance. The board also upholds 
the Company's values and standards 
and ensures that its obligations to 
the Company's shareholders and 
others are understood and met.

Responsibilities of Board Members  
(Chairman, Non-Executive Directors, Company Secretary)

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the head of 
the Company between the running of the board and the executive 
responsibility for the running of the Company's business. No one 
individual should have unfettered powers of decision.

Chairman
The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the board, ensuring its 
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and setting its agenda. The 
chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the directors receive 
accurate, timely and clear information.  He also ensures effective 
communication with shareholders.

Non-Executive Directors
As part of their role as members of a unitary board, non-executive 
directors constructively challenge and help develop proposals on 
strategy. Non-executive directors also scrutinise the performance 
of management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor 
the reporting of performance. They ensure the integrity of financial 
information and that financial controls and systems of risk management 
are robust and defensible.

Directors can obtain independent professional advice in the course of 
their duties, if necessary, at the Company's expense.

Company Secretar y
The Company Secretary plays a key role in assisting all directors to 
obtain the information they need to carry out their roles effectively. 

He is responsible for ensuring that board processes and 
procedures are appropriately followed and that they support 
effective decision making and governance in accordance with 
the Companies Act.

Appointments to the Board
There should be a formal, rigorous and transparent 
procedure for the appointment of new directors to the 
board.

Appointments to the board are made on merit and 
against objective criteria. Care is also taken to ensure 
that appointees have enough time available to devote 
to the job. This is particularly important in the case of 
chairmanship. The board also satisfies itself that plans are in 
place for orderly succession for appointments to the board 
and to senior management, so as to maintain an appropriate 

balance of skills and experience within the Company and on the board.
Effectively deploy resources to increase 

profits and generate funds
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Election and  
Re-election
All directors are submitted for 
re-election at regular intervals, 
subject to continued satisfactory 
performance. The board ensures 
planned and progressive refreshing 
of the board.

Audit Committee
The board should establish formal 
and transparent arrangements for 
considering how they should apply 
the financial reporting and internal 
control principles and for maintaining 
an appropriate relationship with the 
Company's auditors.

The main role and responsibilities of 
the audit committee include:

 n To monitor the integrity 
of the financial statements 
of the Company, and any 
formal announcements 
relating to the Company's 
financial performance, 
reviewing significant 
financial reporting 
judgements contained in 
them;

 n To review the Company's 
internal financial controls 
and, unless expressly 
addressed by a separate 
board risk committee 
composed of independent 
directors, or by the board 
itself,

 n To review the Company's 
internal control and risk 
management systems;

 n To monitor and review 
the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal audit 
function;

 n To make recommendations 
to the board, for it to put 
to the shareholders for 
their approval in general 
meeting, in relation to 
the appointment, re-
appointment and removal 
of the external auditor 
and to approve the 
compensation and terms of 

engagement of the external auditor;

 n To review and monitor the external auditor's independence 
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, 
taking into consideration relevant professional and regulatory 
requirements;

 n To develop and implement policy on the engagement of 
the external auditor to supply on-audit services, taking into 
account relevant ethical guidance regarding the provision of 
non-audit services by the external audit firm; and to report 
to the board, identifying any matters in respect of which it 
considers that action or improvement is needed and making 
recommendations as to the steps to be taken.

The audit committee should review arrangements by which staff 
of the Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The 
audit committee's objective should be to ensure that arrangements are 
in place for the proportionate and independent investigation of such 
matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

The audit committee should have primary responsibility for making a 
recommendation on the appointment, reappointment and removal of 
the external auditors.

The audit committee of the board is comprised of three members who 
are all independent non-executive directors. At least one member of 
the audit committee has recent and relevant financial experience.

Meetings of the Audit Committee
The audit committee Chairman, in consultation with the Company 
Secretary decide the frequency and timing of its meetings.

Four (4) meetings were held during the year to coincide with key dates 
within the financial reporting and audit cycle. The Company's external 
audit lead partner is invited regularly to attend the meetings.

The audit committee met with the external auditors, without 
management, to discuss matters relating to its remit and any issues 
arising from the audit.

Relationship with the Board
The role of the audit committee is for the board to decide and to the 
extent that the audit committee undertakes tasks on behalf of the 
board, the results are reported to, and considered by, the board. In 
doing so it identifies any matters in respect of which it considers that 
action or improvement is needed, and make recommendations as to 
the steps to be taken.

The audit committee should review annually its terms of reference and 
its own effectiveness and recommend any necessary changes to the 
board.

The Committee members are:

Oliver Holmes (Chairman), Michael Bernard, Richard Lewis
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Corporate Governance cont’d.

available a statement of whether they may have any other connections 
with the Company.

Meetings of the Nomination and  
Compensation Committee
The Committee was appointed by the board on September 8, 2009 
and comprises three members. The quorum is three and in the absence 
of a member, he will select another director to be his alternate at the 
meeting. The Chairman and the Managing Director of Carreras Limited 
are required to attend meetings of the Committee on the occasion of 
a discussion of compensation and to discuss the performance of the 
Executive Directors and other members of the Senior Management 
Team [except when their own compensation is under review], and to 
make proposals as appropriate.

Relationship  
with the Board
The Committee shall make recommendations to the board in specific 
regard to the reappointment of any Non-executive Director at the 
conclusion of their specified term of office after reviewing the 
Director's performance; the re-election by shareholders of any director 
under the retirement or by rotation provisions in the Company's 
Articles of Association; and the continuation in office of any Director 
at any time.

The Committee members are:

Richard Lewis, Hon. William McConnell, OJ.

Nomination and 
Compensation 
Committee
The main role and responsibilities of 
the nomination and compensation 
committee include:

n To determine the framework 
and policy on terms of 
engagement including the 
specific compensation of 
each executive director 
and each member of the 
Senior Management Team 
["Leadership Team"] of 
the Company, including 
entitlements where applic-
able under any share 
incentive schemes and the 
pensions schemes and any 
compensation payments.

n  To make recommendations 
to the board on suitable 
candidates for appointment 
as board directors and to 
make recommendations 
to the board as to the 
suitability of candidates for 
appointment as executive 
directors of the Company.

Fees payable to non executive 
directors are determined by the main 
board on the recommendation of the 
chairman and chief executive.

The Committee is authorized by the 
board to obtain, at the Company's 
expense, such outside legal or other 
independent professional advice as it 
considers necessary and, in particular, 
is responsible for the appointment 
of any compensation consultants, 
Executive Recruitment & Placement 
Services [head-hunters] or any other 
professional service provider who 
may advise the Committee. Where 
such consultants are appointed, 
the Committee is required to make 
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Meetings for the Financial Year:
Board   5

Audit Committee     4

Nomination & Compensation Committee   2

Name of Director Board Audit Nomination and

   Compensation

Michael Bernard 5 4  n/a

Eduardo Castaneda 2 n/a  n/a

Amanda Cavill De Zavaley 5 n/a  n/a

Oliver Holmes 5 4  n/a

Gavin Jordan 3 2  1

Richard Lewis 4 4  2

William McConnell 5 n/a  2

Marcus Steele 5 4  2

Meeting Attendance of Directors  

Our Standards of 
Business Conduct
Our Standards of Business conduct 
express the high standards of 
business integrity that British 
American Tobacco (BAT) requires 
from employees worldwide.  As a 
member company of the BAT group, 
Carreras Limited and its employees 
are expected to comply with these 
standards.

The Standards of Business Conduct 
set out specific guidelines which 
provide support and guidance for 
employee conduct.  Whistle blowing 
procedures are also put in place so 
that any employee who suspects 
wrongdoing can raise his/her concern 
in confidence. 

The Standards cover four broad areas which govern general business 
conduct, as well as provide guidance for employees in making 
appropriate decisions and judgments in the course of work. These 
areas are as follows: 

n Personal and Business Integrity

n Public Contributions

n Corporate Assets and Financial Integrity

n National and International Trade

Each employee is expected to know, understand and practice the 
standards, as appropriate, and review and sign in accordance with the 
policy, on an annual basis.

Gavin Jordan joined August 12, 2013

Eduardo Castaneda  joined  November  6, 2013

~

~
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PROFIT & LOSS SUMMARY
GROSS OPERATING REVENUE 10,342,006 12,241,512 11,022,746
TRADING  PROFIT 3,199,787 3,844,022 3,437,158 
INCOME FROM NON ROUTINE TRANSACTIONS  1,787,365  5,083,600  - 
 
TOTAL TRADING PROFIT 4,987,152 8,927,622 3,437,158
INVESTMENT & INTEREST INCOME 174,719 158,294 125,672
OPERATING PROFIT 5,161,871 9,085,916 3,562,830
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INCOME 22,600 (233,100 ) 363,400
RESTRUCTURING COSTS  -   -   - 
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  5,184,471 8,852,816 3,926,230
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION  4,003,175 6,234,234 2,597,220  
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS 3,999,992 6,234,059 2,597,229

BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY
FIXED ASSETS 204,632 158,650 145,150
SHARE CAPITAL 121,360 121,360 121,360
RESERVES 4,073,129 3,562,164 2,818,195
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 4,194,489 3,683,524 2,939,555

FINANCIAL RATIOS   
TRADING PROFIT MARGIN 30.9% 31.4% 31.2%
OPERATING  PROFIT/OPERATING REVENUE 32.7% 32.7% 32.3%
STOCKHOLDERS’ RETURN ON EQUITY 95.4% 169.2% 88.4%
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from normal operations) 547.85¢ 551.16¢ 535.03¢
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from non-routine transactions) 276.15¢ 733.05¢ -
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from discontinued operations) - - -
P/E RATIO 4.3 4.1 11.8
DISTRIBUTION - PER STOCK UNIT 704¢ 1179¢ 560¢
                                               
OTHER DATA   
SHARE CAPITAL   
 - STOCK UNITS IN ISSUE (‘000) 485,440 485,440 485,440
CLOSING STOCK PRICE ($) - MARCH 31 35.51 52.92 63.00
DIVIDEND PAID 3,418,898 5,723,338 2,718,464
 DEPRECIATION CHARGED 50,556 46,616 55,349
EXCHANGE GAIN / (LOSS)  88,953   160,582   19,369 
WEIGHTED AVERAGE EXCHANGE RATES:  US$ 1 to J$ 109.5744 98.8865 87.3000

  Restated 
FINANCIAL YEAR 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Ten Year Financial Review
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   Restated  
 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09  2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05

      
 12,935,692 10,410,178 10,923,530 9,037,241 7,005,159 6,955,087 6,604,902
 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894 3,379,964 3,591,008 2,331,197 

  -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
 
 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894 3,379,964 3,591,008 2,331,197
 138,890 269,142 599,027 690,841 657,919 825,485 1,203,564
 4,430,094 3,783,285 5,381,996 5,827,735 4,037,883 4,416,493 3,534,761
 550,400 711,200 694,900  -   -   -   - 
  -   -   -   -   -   (269,659) -
 4,980,494 4,494,485 6,076,896 5,827,735 4,037,883 4,146,834 3,534,761
 3,314,076 3,001,875 4,093,911 4,000,020 2,766,915 3,033,553 2,459,194
 3,314,097 3,001,869 4,093,682 3,999,018 2,765,947 3,032,067 2,457,999

      
 140,190 114,724 101,915 79,945 83,560 105,636 503,503
 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360
 3,210,417 2,669,801 3,472,034 7,768,667 6,642,746 6,315,453 7,666,781
 3,331,777 2,791,161 3,593,394 7,890,027 6,764,106 6,436,813 7,788,141

 
      
 33.2% 33.8% 43.8% 56.8% 48.2% 51.9% 35.3%
 34.2% 36.3% 49.3% 64.5% 57.6% 63.5% 53.5%
 99.5% 107.5% 113.9% 50.7% 40.9% 47.1% 31.6%
 682.7¢ 618.3¢ 843.2¢ 823.8¢ 570.1¢ 498.9¢ 604.0¢
 - - - - - - -
 - - - - (0.3)¢ 125.7¢ (97.7)¢
 8.9 7.8 4.4 8.9 8.7 5.5 6.3
 500¢ 700¢ 1,630¢ 540¢ 490¢ 860¢ 1,680¢
      

 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440
 60.51 48.50 37.76 73.51 49.61 34.40 32.00
 2,427,200 3,398,080 7,912,672 2,621,376 2,378,656 4,174,784 8,155,392
 48,884 40,833 25,081 22,555 24,913 34,529 43,703
  (48,911) 4,945 209,967 167,855 124,087 345,731 87,216
 85.7486 89.5082 88.8158 71.0888 67.8003 65.4951 61.5438
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Leadership Team

54

32

1
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Mr. Christopher Brown joined Carreras 
Limited in 2009 as the Corporate and 
Regulatory Affairs Manager. He has more 
than 9 years' experience at the Senior 
Management level within the Government of 
Jamaica. Prior to joining Carreras, he worked 
as an Advisor to the Minister of National 
Security, where among other things, he had 
direct responsibility for coordinating the 
work of the Ministry of National Security 
in relation to its International Obligations 
with such bodies as the United Nations 
and CARICOM and other international 
organizations and missions.

Christopher has also held the position 
of Policy Director for Electoral and 
Parliamentary Affairs in the Government 
of Jamaica, between 1998 and 2001. He has 
done research for the CARICOM Secretariat 
and has been a Tutor in the Department of 
Government at the University of the West 
Indies since 1998.

Currently, he serves as Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of Caymanas Track 
Limited. He previously served as Chairman 
of the Board of Cumberland High School. 
Christopher also has significant Project 
Management experience, having been a part 
of the project Management Team during 
the construction of the Ritz Carlton and 
Half Moon hotels.

A graduate of Calabar High School, 
Christopher holds a Master of Philosophy 
Degree and a Post Graduate Diploma in 
International Relations from the Institute 
of International Relations in Trinidad and 
Tobago, as well as a Bachelor of Science 
Degree in Management and Economics from 
the University of the West Indies, Mona.

Christopher is married to Sandra 
Johnson-Brown and together they have a 
son, William. He enjoys watching and playing 
cricket, lawn tennis and swimming.

CHRISTOPHER BROWN 
M.PHIL; BSc. (HONS); DIP INTER. RELS. (DIST.) 
(Corporate & Regulatory Affairs Manager)

21 MARCUS STEELE 
BSc. ACCA, CA, MBA, GMP (HBS)  
(Managing Director)

Mr. Marcus Steele, currently serves as 
Managing Director of Carreras Limited. He 
is a graduate of St. Jago High School and 
is a qualified Chartered Accountant with a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting 
from the University of the West Indies and 
a Master of Business Administration from 
Florida International University. Marcus 
also completed an Executive Programme 
in General Management at the Harvard 
Business School. 

Marcus first joined Carreras Group 
Limited in the Company's Tobacco division, 
Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited, in 
the capacity of the Company's Management 
Accountant in April 1998. In June 1999, he was 
promoted to Finance Planning Manager and 
later appointed Marketing Finance Manager 
in June 2001.  In May 2002, Mr. Steele was 
appointed Finance Planning Manager for 
Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited with 
overall responsibility for management of 
Marketing and Operations Finance. 

In March 2004, Marcus was seconded 
to British American Tobacco Caribbean 
and Central America's Area Office in Costa 
Rica as the Country Readiness Manager for 
the Caribbean with the responsibility for 
leading the migration of the Caribbean legal 
entities into the regional shared service 
centre. In July 2005, he was appointed 
Finance Planning and Reporting Manager 
for BAT's operations in the Caribbean and 
Central America where he focussed on 
financial reporting, strategy and planning. 
Marcus was then appointed to the Carreras 
Board of Directors on October 1, 2007 and 
served as Finance Director and Company 
Secretary up until August 2011 when he 
was seconded to the Trinidad branch of 
another BAT company, Carisma Marketing 
Services Limited, in the position of Country 
Manager with responsibility for the general 
management of the Company's businesses 
across 24 markets in the English, French 
and Dutch Caribbean. He was reappointed 
as a Director of Carreras Limited on April 
1, 2013. Marcus also serves as a Director of 
Proven Wealth Transition Limited, formerly 
First Global Financial Services Limited.  He 
served previously as a Director of Demerara 
Tobacco. 

Marcus enjoys reading, dancing, cricket, 
football and athletics and has two children, 
son, Marquis and daughter, Sonique.
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3 DENVER McDONALD, BSc.
(Trade Marketing and Distribution Manager)

Mr. Denver McDonald is currently the 
Trade Marketing and Distribution Manager. 
He first joined Carreras Limited in 2004 as 
a Trade Marketing Representative.

Denver has more than 6 years of 
experience across the BAT business, having 
operated as Project and Area Manager 
post secondment to Costa Rica in 2005 as 
a Marketing Management Trainee.

Between 2005 and 2013, Denver 
assumed various mid-level management 
roles both locally and in the BAT Caribbean 
Region. In 2011, he was seconded to Carisma 
Marketing Services in Trinidad as the Key 
Account Manager with responsibility 
for the Company's businesses across 
24 markets in the English French and 
Dutch speaking Caribbean. He returned 
to Carreras in 2013 as the Marketing 
Deployment Manager, and in March 2014, 
he was appointed as the Trade Marketing 
and Distribution Manager. Denver is a 
graduate of St. Georges College and 
holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Management & Accounts. He is currently 
pursuing a Degree in Law and enjoys 
watching and playing football.

5

4 LISA BELNAVIS-EDWARDS 
BSc., MSc Human Resources
(Human Resource Manager)

Leadership Team cont’d.

Gavin joined Carreras as Finance 
Director and Company Secretary in 
August 2013. He is a highly accomplished 
and results oriented senior executive with 
over ten years' experience in financial 
planning, financial management, and 
strategic planning. 

Gavin previously held several senior 
finance roles at First Global Bank Ltd., 
First Global Financial Services Ltd. and 
Grace Kennedy Financial Group, the last 
being Chief Financial Officer for First 
Global Group and Divisional Chief Financial 
Officer at Grace Kennedy Financial 
Group. During his tenure, he efficiently 
streamlined operations and implemented 
solutions to increase bottom line profit, 
as well as developed and implemented 
financial controls that resulted in increased 
productivity. 

Gavin is a graduate of Jamaica College 
High School and is a Certified Public 
Accountant (CPA). He holds a Bachelor 
of Science Degree in Accounting and 
Economics from the University of the 
West Indies and a Master of Science 
Degree in Financial Management from 
the University of London in the United 
Kingdom. He is a member of the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(AICPA) and lists his hobbies as playing 
music, basketball, and chess. He is married 
to Tameka Jordan and has two daughters, 
Madison and Makenzy.

GAVIN JORDAN, BSc., MSc, CPA
(Finance Director and Company Secretary)

Lisa Belnavis-Edwards joined Carreras Limited on June 2014 as Human Resource Manager.  She holds 
a Masters Degree in Human Resources from the University of the West Indies, Mona, a certificate in 
adult instructional techniques from the International Air Transportation Association in Montreal, as 
well as certificates in Industrial Relations, Public Relations, and Event Planning.  Immediately before 
joining Carreras, Lisa served as Senior Human Resources Officer at GraceKennedy Limited where she 
was responsible for inter alia, developing and maintaining staff developmental, recognition and reward 
programmes, succession planning and preparation and the execution of training needs analysis for 
employee development.

Having a deep interest in the development of others, Lisa is very concerned about the plight of 
children who but for a little active interest in their lives, fall by the wayside and become a burden or 
blight on society. Lisa enjoys cooking and creative writing, and was a co-author of the Grade 2 teacher 
and student workbooks in the Peace and Love in Schools Series.  She has been associated with the 
University Singers and UWI Dramatic Arts Society.
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Marcus Steele
Managing Director

Management Discussion 
& Analysis

Dear Shareholders, 

I
t has been a challenging yet re-
warding year. The challenges met 
by your Company during the year 
and the results delivered by the 
team, demonstrate the strength, 
and agility of your Company in 

navigating through a rapidly chang-
ing environment. The team's drive 
to deliver the best results possible, 
ensuring that our high quality brands 
continue to be the consumers' choice, 
given the increasing constraints on 
their share of spend, is also notewor-
thy. As a result, we have been able 
to continue offering you, our valued 
shareholders, enviable returns on your 
investment, attracting and retaining 
qualified and energetic employees 
while demonstrating exemplary cor-
porate social responsibility. 

Your Company's performance, this 
past year, in many ways reflects the  
shifting market fundamentals which 
we have seen over the last few years - 
declining consumer purchasing power, 
competition from other FMCG's for 
the trade's spend, competition from 
illicit cigarettes and raw tobacco.  
These challenges  were no doubt 
compounded by the implementation 
of tobacco control regulations, 
specifically the public place smoking 
ban, which undoubtedly impacted 
our consumers' decision on where and 
when to consume our brands, which 
consequentially saw a reduction in our 
sales volumes.

In addition to the public place smoking ban, another significant challenge 
over the past year has been responding to the new requirement for the 
introduction of graphic pictorial health warnings which now occupy 
60% of the top front and back of our cigarette packs. 

As part of a strategic effort to sensitize our customers and consumers 
to the new look of the packs with the graphic pictorial warnings, 
thus mitigating against any potential volume fall off, the Company 
implemented a phased roll out of the newly labelled cigarette packs on 
March 25, 2014. I want to take this opportunity to commend the Team 
for what I believe was a seamless introduction of the newly labelled 
packs in the market.

Shareholders would also be aware that amendments were made to 
the Public Health Tobacco Control Regulations, which for the most 
part, addressed the major concerns held by the Company since the 
initial introduction. These amendments were effected following the 

Managing 
Director's 
Overview
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review and consultation process 
instituted by the Minister of Health 
and facilitated by a Parliamentary 
Committee charged with reviewing 
the concerns and recommendations 
of key stakeholders. It was during 
this review and consultation  process 
that the Company, along with several 
other key private sector groupings, 
voiced our concerns and presented 
recommendations towards ensuring 
that the final amendments were 
more practical and balanced. 

Since the introduction of the 
regulations, we have continued 
to stay close to our customers 
and consumers, preparing and 
educating them on the requirements 
for compliance within the new 
regulatory environment. These 
sensitization programmes have so far 
been successful in not only preparing 
our customers for the new realities, 
but they have also certainly enriched 
our partnership with them, which 
going forward will no doubt be 
critical with increasing regulations 
on our industry.

Our
Future

Managing our operations within an 
increasingly regulated environment 
continues to be top of mind 
and a strategic priority for the 
Management Team. The Minister 
has indicated an intention to enact 
further tobacco control regulations, 
which if realized, will see a ban on 
tobacco advertising, promotions 
and sponsorships. We are therefore 
currently in the process of preparing 
our operations for these impending 
bans and are confident that the 
strategies put in place will ensure 
minimal disruption to the business. 

While we implement these 
preparatory activities for further 

Management Discussion & Analysis cont’d.

regulations, we will continue to bolster our ongoing strategic 
objectives to stabilize our volume base and seek opportunities  to 
deliver sustainable growth by ensuring a robust and diversified 
portfolio that appeals to the different segments of the market, as well 
as suits consumers' preferences. We will also continue to aggressively 
compete for our consumers' share of spend through ensuring that we 
have attractive price offers for every segment of the market, especially 
as we consider the harsh economic environment, and even more so, as 
we continue to grapple with the increasing illicit trade in cigarettes. In 
that regard, we will continue urging the Jamaica Customs Department 
to bolster their port monitoring apparatus towards stemming the flow 
of illegal cigarettes into the Jamaican market, and in so doing create 
contestable space in the market for our brands. 

As a proud Jamaican company for over fifty years, nation building will 
remain a key focus of the business as we hold closely our promise to 
add value to the communities in which we operate. As a responsible 
employer, quality staff recruitment, effective employee management, 
timely talent reviews, and positive organizational effectiveness all 
remain significant areas of focus for the Management Team.

As we set sail into the 2014/2015 financial year, I would like to 
gratefully acknowledge and thank the Board of Directors for their 
strong contribution to Carreras' success.  We will need their guidance 
now more than ever as we navigate the many challenges ahead.

I must also extend heartfelt appreciation to our valued customers and 
consumers for standing by us and working with us through perhaps our 
toughest year yet. We look forward to your continued support and 
patronage.

To my fellow employees, management and staff, thank you for your 
commitment, hard work and wholehearted support of Carreras' goals 
and objectives.  We will continue to act with vision and decisiveness, 
always striving to improve our performance, pursuing growth 
opportunities as they become available.  It is an honour to work with 
you – especially as we manage this great Company through a period of 
major transformational change.

Marcus Steele
Managing Director
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F
or the financial year ended 
March 31, 2014 the Company 
reported net profit attribut-
able to shareholders of $4.00 
billion, a decrease of 36% 
compared to the prior year.  

Operating revenue for the period 
declined by 16% from $12.24 billion 
to $10.34 billion. 

Notwithstanding the reduction in 
operating revenue, the net profit 
from underlying business excluding 
income received from non-routine 
transactions (interest from CCJ 
settlement in 2014 and distribution 
of pension surplus 2013) was flat 
compared to the prior year.  This 
demonstrates the Company's focus 
on achieving sustainable long term 
earnings for shareholders.

During the year an agreement was 
reached with the TAJ and the Ministry 
of Finance & Planning to recover the 
$1.73 billion plus interest of $1.78 
billion on the amounts outstanding.  
Consequently, the interest of $1.78 
billion was recorded in the current 
year's financial statements.

A total of $3.42 billion was paid 
out to shareholders representing 
$7.04 per share. $2.12 dividend 
per share was as a result of non-
routine transactions (distribution of 
pension surplus and interest from 
CCJ settlement). Compared to the 
prior year this represents a reduction 
of 40%. However, the prior year's 
payout included $6.39 dividend per 
share from non-routine transactions 
(distribution of pension surplus).
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Operating Revenue
The Group's operating revenue 
declined year over year by 16%, 
from $12.24 billion to $10.34 billion. 
This was mainly due to the negative 
impact of the tobacco regulation on 
the volume base during the period 
of uncertainty when the regulations 
were introduced.  

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales was $5.27 billion 
compared to $6.56 billion, a reduction 
of 20%.  The reduction was directly 
linked to the reduction in volumes 
sold compared to the prior period. 
Specific tax remained at $10,500 per 
thousand sticks.  However, during 
the year there was the introduction 
of the Customs Administration Fee 
(CAF) on all imports which resulted 
in an additional charge of $1,000 per 
thousand sticks.

Operating Expenses
During the fiscal year, there were 
initiatives undertaken to reduce 
cost, strengthen the trade marketing 
and distribution capabilities, and to 
educate the trade on the changes 
arising from the tobacco regulation.  
Additionally, the Jamaican Dollar 
devalued against the United States 
Dollar by 10.80% and inflation was 
8.30%.  This negatively impacted the 
underlying cost of sales and expenses. 
Notwithstanding, the Group was 
able to contain the increase in overall 
expenses to 2% over the comparable 
period.
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Assets
The Group's current assets grew by 
36% over the prior year as the balance 
remaining from the tax refund and 
interest receivable arising from the CCJ 
settlement was classified as current 
assets as it is expected to be recovered 
within 12 months.  Consequently, 
there was a reduction in non-current 
assets by 76%. Trade receivables 
increased by 360% over the prior year 
due to the competitive environment 
and inventories decreased by 26% 
due to the effect arising from the 
management of the changeover in the 
new labelling standards required by 
the tobacco regulations. 

Credit Risk
The Group continued to aggressively 
manage its credit risk and in the 
current year there was a shift from 
repurchase agreements to short-term 
deposits.  The counterparty risk is 
continually and rigorously assessed by 
Management and the Board.

Liabilities
Total liabilities decreased by 16% 
compared to the prior year due to a 
reduction in corporation tax liability 
and payables to related parties. The 
decrease in corporation tax liability 
was associated with the reduction in 
operating revenues for the year and 
the reduction in related party payables 
was due to the timing of payments.
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Balance 
Sheet 
Review

Interest and 
Investment Income
The Group's investment income 
increased by 10.4% due to an 
increase in market interest rates 
over the period.  Our strategy is to 
maintain an optimal investment mix 
to maximize return on our funds and 
ensuring that our working capital 
needs are adequately covered.
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C
ommerce and trade 
in today's Tobacco 
Industry are becoming 
increasingly challenging 
with myriads of potential 
shocks from foreign 

exchange impacts, high inflation, 
Illicit trading to an increasingly 
tough regulatory environment.  
Amidst these realities there still 
exists excellent opportunities for 
the business to provide value to 
consumers and profit in the process.  

We at Carreras pride ourselves in our 
reputation, commitment and ability 
to deliver first class brands with 
speed and vigour to the retail trade 
all the while eliciting excitement 
with consumers.  Our Strategic Plan 
for 2014 going five years into the 
future is solidly built on fortifying 
the base of our Trade Marketing 
& Distribution (TM&D) operations 
to guarantee sustainability of the 
business.  TM&D's primary focus 
centers around supplying and 
distributing strategic brands at retail, 
building profitable relationships with 
trade partners and building a loyal 
consumer base through the point of 
sale (POS). 

Our ambition and priority in 
2014 remains anchored to the 
development of the core ethos of 
TM&D in our pursuit of operational 
excellence and drive for sustainable 
growth.

1. Route to market (R2M):  
 Our R2M strategy is designed 

to drive the adequate level of 
product availability utilizing an 

Marketing

efficient mix of distribution model options that provide us with 
the opportunity to deliver with speed and scale at a competitive 
cost base.  Success at R2M provides a platform that enables our 
brands and innovations to reach their full potential in share, volume, 
revenue and profit.  Through smart customer route sequencing, 
distribution model options, mutually beneficial partnerships with 
the trade our commercial ambitions are realizable.

2. Shopper Marketing: 
 We continue to focus our efforts on in-store communication to 

command attention to our brand portfolio with an end game of 
prompting purchase decisions at the POS.  TM&D's 'activation 
power' in retail, centers on  exciting consumers through innovative 
communication media, brand messages relevant to our shoppers 
and partnering with the retail trade as ambassador of our brands, 
as we embrace the challenge of engaging consumers in an 
increasingly regulated environment.

3. Customer Engagement: 
 Our continued success depends on partnering with our customers 

to improve our investment efficiency and effectiveness, mutual 
profit and value generation year over year.  This strategy, we 
believe sets the foundation to build true business partner status 
with our retail clients, even as we strengthen the commercial 
competence of our people to enable them to continue winning in 
an increasingly competitive and complex marketplace.

Trade 
Marketing

Trade Marketing Representative, Shanique Mongal, guides a 
customer in using the innovative Matterhorn Click & On, as she 
replenishes her stock.  Distribution Representative, Dwayne-Paul 
Samuels, supports while restocking the cigarette dispenser and 
conducting stock rotation.
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Brand 
Marketing

Ensuring the optimal performance 
of our brands, continued to be a 
challenge in the current economic 
climate.  However, we were not 
daunted by this encounter, as we 
brought creative and innovative 
energy to our brands, to deliver firm 
performance and profitability.

Iconic Brands
Our value for money (VFM) brands, 
Craven "A" and Matterhorn, remain 
Jamaica's preferred brands of choice 
for relaxation and entertainment.  
Despite the introduction of legis-
lation to restrict public use of the 
product; with the use of imaginative 
promotional strategies, the brands 
have maintained their dominance in 
the marketplace.  Over the past year, 
brand activations were interactive 
and exhilarating, allowing consumers 
to be immersed in the brand world 
notwithstanding increasingly restric-
tive use by the target demographic.  
Our engagements were retained in 
the distinctive genuine lifestyle  of 
consumers at inner-city street danc-
es, Round Robins in rural areas and 
other major events such as Reggae 
Sumfest and Bacchanal Jamaica.  

Innovation to Fuel 
Performance
To strengthen loyalty and equity, 
it remained critical for Carreras to 
continue on the path of innovation 
and ingenuity. As Matterhorn Click 
& On builds momentum and gains 
acceptance in the market, we 
reinforced the awareness and trial 
of this product with a rock-solid 
engagement platform at Bacchanal 
Carnival and a communication 
campaign highlighting factual 
information and product attributes. 

Global Drive Brands 
Our premium portfolio of the Dunhill and Rothman brands continue to 
deliver stable year on year growth which is reflective of the loyalty of 
our target consumers.  This growth was supported by electrifying and 
imaginative brand executions which reinforce the supremacy of these 
brands. 

Low Price Defender
Our low price defender continues to grow in an increasingly 
competitive environment with primary focus on geographic areas high 
in illicit consumption.  The Pall Mall brand offers an affordable, quality 
substitute for our consumers unable to afford our value for money 
brands but still loyal to Carreras' brand portfolio.
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Carreras' Trade Marketing Representative, Ricardo 
Smith, checking the stock in a cigarette dispenser

Carreras' Trade Marketing 
Representatives ensuring 
a cigarette dispenser 
meets company standards 

Carreras' Trade Marketing and Distribution Representative,  
Kevern Salmon, restocks a cigarette dispenser.

Matterhorn Family Communication

Enriched Consumer 
Experiences Through 
Modern Marketing
A customer-centric marketing 
approach has proven to be a powerful 
means of building customer loyalty.  
Through the analysis of customer 
behaviour, we have been able to 
decide which consumers to engage 
and thus create powerful initiatives 
to build loyalty to the brands.  
Through the employment of micro-

targeting techniques, we have been able to use customer analytics to 
increase our consumer base.

Our future is bright as our brands remain strong and are top performers in 
the local FMCG market.  We have solid relationships with our customers 
and work continuously to strengthen those ties.  Our customer-centric 
focus drives us to provide innovative products of the highest quality to our 
consumers.  This strategy will be even more critical in the upcoming years 
as more legislation is introduced to restrict the public use and consumption 
of our products.  Direct marketing activities that are imaginative, original 
and inspirational will play a greater role in ensuring the continuous 
engagement of our consumers as we anticipate and navigate the ever-
increasing regulatory environment.

Management Discussion & Analysis cont’d.
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The Regulatory Environment

T
he local regulatory environ-
ment for Jamaica's tobacco 
industry was fundamentally 
altered during the period 
under review, with the for-
mal introduction of tobac-

co control regulations by the Minister 
of Health in July of 2013. Indeed, along 
with the continued vocal activism of 
the Minister of Health as it relates to 
the tobacco industry, the period wit-
nessed a significant increase in public 
activism by both the local and inter-
national tobacco control community, 
with noted official visits by senior 
officials from both the Pan American 
Health Organization (PAHO) and quite 
significantly, the Chairman of the 
Framework Convention on Tobacco 
Control (FCTC) Secretariat of the 
World Health Organization (WHO) – all 
towards pushing Jamaica to finally in-
stituting tobacco control regulations, 
thereby fulfilling its obligations under 
the FCTC treaty that it signed and rati-
fied in 2005. 

Tobacco Control 
Regulations
On July 15, 2013, the Minister of 
Health formally announced within 
the Parliament, tobacco control 
regulations for the local industry 
culminating a process which started in 
2004. Despite a draft bill comprising 
some 13 regulatory measures being in 
existence since 2011, the Minister in 
announcing the new regulations, chose  
to introduce 5 of that listing, and quite 
notably, chose to use the route of 
unilaterally signing these regulations 
into being, rather than going the usual 
route of the full parliamentary process. 

Immediately, the Company, which has 
been on public record highlighting its 
non-opposition to tobacco control 
regulations, and also its understanding 
of the government's global treaty 
obligations, welcomed the regulations, 

but questioned the practicality, harshness and the method through 
which the Minister chose to introduce them.

Specifically, the Company after a detailed review of the measures, 
including an analysis of the process of tabling and implementation 
chosen by the Minister, highlighted to both the Minister (formally), 
and other crucial stakeholders, that several elements of the regulations 
as announced, were either draconian or lacked clarity, thereby making 
enforcement and adherence very difficult. The Company also voiced its 
concern over the process chosen by the Minister to unilaterally sign into 
law these regulations without giving the Parliament the opportunity to 
formally review and examine the measures.  The Company was joined 
by other key private sector groupings, including the Jamaica Chamber 
of Commerce, the Jamaica Hotel and Tourist Associations and the 
Jamaica Gasoline Retailers Associations, among other business and 
entertainment operators in raising objections to certain aspects of the 
announced regulations, and the need for clarity in the intent and scope 
of the measures.

Reviewing the Regulations
Consequent from the public uproar, the Company's own public 
activism, and quite significantly, opposition and concerns raised by 
members within the government, the Minister in a subsequent address 
to the Parliament, firstly, withdrew some aspects of the measures he 
announced, indicated that he would be amending others, and finally, 
introduced a process of review of the measures – which included an 
invitation to the public and all interested parties to make submissions. 
In addition, in relation to the concerns raised regarding his method 
of implementation, the Minister announced that a Parliamentary 
Committee would also review the regulations, and that for future 
measures, he would not go the route of unilaterally instituting them. 
The Company fully participated in the process as announced by the 
Minister – making formal submissions to him, as well as appearing 
before, and making a full presentation to the Parliamentary Committee 
that was charged with reviewing the regulations. 

Subsequent to the various presentations made by the National Drug 
Abuse Council, the Jamaica Coalition for Tobacco Control, the Jamaica 
Cancer Society, the Heart Foundation of Jamaica, Carreras Limited, 

The regulations initially announced by the Minister entailed  
5 main areas of tobacco control. These are as follows:

n Indoor smoking ban

n Labelling and packaging regulations, including graphic 
health warnings on 75% of the top front and back of all 
cigarette packaging, including sticks

n Regulations on Annual reporting of company information

n Tobacco product disclosures on ministerial request

n Limited sales restrictions
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the Ministry of Health, businesses 
such as Red Bones, and a senior 
attorney from the Norman Manley 
Law School, the Parliamentary 
Committee deliberated on the 
various submissions made, and voted 
in clear majorities for amendments 
to be made to the key areas of 
concern for the Company as  
follows: 

n Allowance of designated outdoor 
smoking areas

n Reduction of the Graphic Health 
Warning (GHW) on packs from 
75% to 60%

n Extension of transitional period 
for the introduction of GHW 
from 6 to 9 months

n Removal of GHW from point of 
sale

n Exemption of private residences 
and vehicles 

n Reduction of fines and removal of 
criminal sanctions 

n Removal of the requirement for 
health warnings on individual 
sticks of cigarettes

Legal Challenge
Despite the decision and recom-
mendations flowing from the  
Parliamentary Committee, as 
well as the previously announced 
amendments by the Minister him-
self, the Company was forced 
to seek a judicial review of the 
Regulations because of the fast  
approaching effective date and no 
formal gazetting of the amendments, 
or any announced suspension of the 
July 15, 2013 regulations.  The matter 
was however settled out of Court 
based on the Attorney General"s for-
mal indication to the Company that 
firstly, the transitional period would 
be extended from 6 to 9 months, and 
that the size of the graphic health 
warning image would be reduced 
from 75 to 60%.  The government 
also formally reconfirmed the in-
tention to make the other amend-
ments consistent with those of the  
Parliamentary Committee, as well 
as those that were previously  
announced by the Minister of Health.

The Regulations: Then and Now

Management Discussion & Analysis cont’d.

Total indoor and outdoor 
smoking ban

Requirement for Ingredients  
disclosure

Pictorial Graphic Health Warnings 
reduced from 75% to 60%

Workplace redefined so that the 
prohibition not to smoke only applies 

to enclosed work places; this will 
facilitate the outdoor designated 

solutions

Removal of the requirement 
for Graphic Health Warnings  

on sticks

References in the regulations 
prohibiting smoking in “government 
owned” buildings or premises will be 
removed.  The reference will only be 

in regards to “government occupied” 
buildings

Transitional period extended  
from 6 to 9 months

Removal of the requirement for all 
point of sale materials to include the 

Graphic Health Warning

The fines for persons found in  
breach of the regulations have been 
significantly reduced and criminal 

sanctions removed

Prohibition to smoke in private  
homes and motor vehicles removed 

from the regulations

Requirement for Pictorial Graphic 
Health Warnings at 75%

Broad application of the term 
“workplace” which consequently 

prohibits designating outdoor  
smoking areas

Requirement for Graphic Health 
Warnings on individual sticks of 

cigarettes

Smoking prohibited in all 
“Government owned” buildings

Six months transitional period  
for compliance with new  

labelling regulations

Requirement for all point of sale 
materials to include the Graphic  

Health Warning

Persons caught in breach of 
regulations can be imprisoned  

and fined up to $500,000

Private residences and motor 
vehicles included in the definition of 
a workplace and public place thereby 
smoking is prohibited in these spaces.

What was announced

What was announced

What has been passed

What has been passed

All owners and operators of 
businesses such as bars, restaurants 

and hotels, will be permitted to 
establish outdoor designated  

smoking areas

The definition of the term 
“ingredients” will replace the term 

“additive in the regulation
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Sensitizing and Educating the 
Public (Trade and Consumers)
The year in review also saw increased strategic activism on the 
part of the management and the wider company to continue 
the process of realigning and refocusing its own internal 
apparatus to contend with the radically changed regulatory 
and commercial landscape. Equally, the Company executed 
a strong mass media public communications campaign to 
ensure that our consumers and customers were also clear as 
to the contents of the regulations and the implications for 
them. In this regard, we initiated:

 n Frequent and several news releases to the media and public 
on the Company's position on the regulations and calling 
for the specific details on regulations

 n Advertorials placed in all major newspapers advising our 
customers of guidelines on the regulations

 n Conducted briefings to all front line staff including 
presentations to all Trade Marketing Representatives and 
Distribution Representatives

 n Provision of Q&A's on the regulations to Trade 
Marketing and Distribution Representatives to aid in their 
engagement with customers

 n Institution of 2 Toll Free Phone Hot Lines for members of 
the media including consumers and customers to contact 
us

 n Issued letters advising of and detailing the regulations to 
entire customer base

 n Undertook a radio campaign on guidelines to customers 
on where they can smoke, including time signals and 
infomercials

 n Developed and distributed to our customers and the trade 
key specific Do's and Don't's brochures and posters on the 
regulations

New Cigarette Pack Labelling
Following the Attorney General's formal indication to the 
Company that the transitional period would be extended 
from 6 to 9 months, the requirement for all cigarette 
packages for sale in the Jamaican market to carry the graphic 
pictorial health warning therefore became effective April 
14, 2014. In an effort to again educate our customers and 
consumers about the new labelling requirement for all our 
cigarette packs, the Company launched a national media and 
trade communication campaign to first sensitize customers 
and consumers to the graphic images that will be rotated on 
the packs prior to the actual roll out of the newly labelled 
packs in the market. Immediately following the sensitization 
campaign and direct engagement by our trade marketing 
representatives, the Company executed a phased roll out 
of the newly labelled cigarette packs ahead of the April 14 
effective date. 



CARRERAS LIMITED  34

Excise and  
Anti-Illicit Trade
Over the past few years the  
Company has had grapple with 
significant and very 
frequent increases in the 
Special Consumption 
Tax (SCT) applied by 
the Government to 
cigarettes, as various 
administrations have 
sought to plug gaps 
in the country's fiscal 
r e v e n u e  t a r g e t s .  
At the same time, 
t h e  M a n a g e m e n t 
has been at pains 
to point out to the  
authorities, the delicate 
b a l a n c e  b e t w e e n 
attaining their revenue 
garnering objectives as 
against giving fuel to 
the ever increasing, and 
transnational monster 

Management Discussion & Analysis cont’d.

of the illicit trading in cigarettes.  For the period under review, the 
Government is seemingly grasping this reality, and as such no new 
increases were announced as it relates to the SCT on cigarettes, as 
well as the recently introduced Customs Administrative Fee (CAF) – 

which still remains at $1 per stick of cigarette.  

In the meantime, both the Jamaica Customs Department and the 
Jamaica Constabulary Force (JCF) have continued to give strong focus 
to disrupting the supply chain of the illicit trade in cigarettes.  The 
Company has also sought to appeal to both the Government and the 
Customs Department to review some of its processes at the Ports of 
Entry, with a view to identifying those who may be abusing certain 
privileges to undertake illegal trading in various products, including 
cigarettes. Noticeably, there has been an increase in the presence of 
counterfeit Craven A cigarettes in the market, as evidenced by the 
various "finds" by the Company through its customers and consumers. 
While the Company has continued its mass media public education 
campaign which is aimed at sensitizing both our retail customers as 
well as our consumers and the wider public about the illegal brands and 
the nature of the counterfeit brands in the market, we are encouraged 
by the transnational cross border collaboration that is being developed 
by the Customs and law enforcement authorities across the region.  
This collaboration which is geared towards tracking, identifying and 
ultimately arresting those individuals who are engaged in this illegal 
trade. 

Carreras would therefore once again like to use this medium to 
commend the many agencies of Government, but specifically, the 
Jamaica Customs Department, the Organized Crime Division and 
the High Command of the Jamaica Constabulary Force, the Bureau 
of Standards Jamaica, as well as the Revenue Protection Department 
for their continued vigilance in seeking to identify and apprehend the 
major players in the illicit trade.

Future Regulatory 
Outlook
The Minister of Health has been on re-
cord indicating his intention to bring 
additional tobacco control measures 
to the country.  While the Company 
remains unopposed to the institution 
of any new measure, we have formal-
ly reminded the Minister of his stat-
ed commitment to the Parliament, 
to expose any new measure to the 
full analysis and review of the par-
liamentary process. Additionally, the 
Company will continue to encourage 
the authorities to institute tobacco 
control legislation that recognizes 
the fact that we are a legitimate 
company, offering a legal product 
for sale to adults who have a consti-
tutional right of choice, which must 
be balanced against infringing the 
rights of non-smokers.  Regulations 
as such should be sensible, practical, 
balanced and non-emotional.
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Members of the Carreras Leadership Team with the recipients of Carreras Regional 
Scholarships (from l-r, Kevol Edwards (Middlesex), Shantel Aris (Surrey), Sanjae 
Watson (Cornwall).

Carreras 2013/2014 Scholarship Recipients with Managing Director, Marcus Steele (centre)

E
ach year, Carre-
ras demonstrates 
the belief that 
Education is a 
critical compo-
nent of nation-

building, crucial to the 
reduction of poverty. As 
is customary, in the year 
2013/2014, the Company 
awarded scholarships and 
bursaries at almost every 
tertiary institution in Ja-
maica.  Scholarships were 
awarded across varying 
fields of study, at Com-
munity & Teachers' Col-
leges, The Edna Manley 
College, The University 
of the West Indies, Uni-
versity of Technology, Northern 
Caribbean University, University Col-
lege of the Caribbean, and the Hydel 
University College. 

A total of 44 students benefitted 
from this programme which is 
designed to assist brilliant and 
financially challenged students. More 
than 400 students at the tertiary level 
applied for Carreras' scholarships this 
year. Applicants must be Jamaican 
citizens, 18 years and older and have 
achieved at least a B average or 3.0 
GPA in the previous academic year.

During 2013/2014, the 
Company also awarded its 
prestigious Postgraduate 
Scholarship to a student at 
the University of the West 
Indies pursuing studies in 
Forensic Science, Davalene 
Neale. The Postgraduate 
Scholarship is designed 
to specifically support 
students who are keen 
on making a contribution 
to their country. The 
Carreras Postgraduate 
Scholarship is the only 
scholarship of its kind 
offered by a corporate 
entity in Jamaica.

Corporate Social Responsibility
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T
hroughout 2013/2014, the 
organization continued to 
focus on the critical stra-
tegic objective of volume 
and value growth.

Human Resources (HR)
focused primarily on quality 
recruitment, and comprehensive 
talent reviews in an effort - and in 
keeping with our commitment - 
to hire and promote from within, 
thereby encouraging "The Right 
People, The Right Behaviours, 
and The Future Leaders". The 
organization remains driven by an 
overarching commitment to building 
a "Winning Organization" through a 
culture anchored in "Accountability 
and Agility".

Talent Management 
and Alignment
In keeping with Carrerars' continued 
focus on developing talent for the 
future, the Company is pleased to 
mention that three of our employees 
from the finance and marketing 
functions were seconded to the 
regional office in Costa Rica.

Staff members continued to access 
the staff programmes which 
support training for themselves and 
their children.  Most job-related 
staff development activities were 
accomplished through internal 
resources.

The Company also, in March 2014, 
implemented some changes to the 
structure as part of a process to 
build a more efficient and effective 
configuration to serve and support 
the business needs for the future.

Work-Life Balance and 
our “We Do Care” programme
Celebrated in October, the 2013 programme included a focus on 
healthy lifestyles and nutrition.  The Company also launched its "We Do 
Care" programme which focused on employee and community welfare.  
On Labour Day 2013 the Carreras team repainted a pedestrian crossing 
in the vicinity of the Twickenham Park location of the Jamaica Police 
Academy.

Human Resources

Your Voice Survey
As a bi-annual activity, the results of the 2012 Your Voice survey 
continued to provide a basis for identifying focus points for HR in 2013 
in terms of staff-related issues.  Carreras continues to be considered a 
great place to work, and levels of staff engagement were considered 
to be good with the general perception among staff indicating their 
strong feelings of experiencing a team atmosphere and of feeling 
valued by the organization.

HR will continue to focus on the development of more junior levels 
of staff in order to continue to build the internal talent pool as this is 
considered key to maintaining and further building these feelings of 
engagement, and strengthening staff loyalty.

Focus for 2014/2015
The HR team's 2014 key areas of focus, among others, will include:

n Continuing to encourage staff access to those policies and 
functional processes made available through the internal systems.

n Refreshing the talent pool through strategic recruitment of high 
performing candidates

n Strengthening the local talent pool by greater focus on 
development among more junior members of staff

n Training the Sales team to ensure that sales skills are developed to 
operate effectively within a changing business environment.

n Strengthening the back office HR support services to the 
employees.

n Supporting the organization's rollout of its 5 Year Strategic 
Leadership Agenda (SLA)

Members of the Carreras Montego Bay Depot Sales 
team take a break from painting to pose for a picture.Team member, Beverly Wood, 

paints a section of the building.
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Group Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income

Year ended March 31, 2014

3
CARRERAS LIMITED

Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2014

Notes 2014 2013
$'000 $'000

(Restated)*

Operating revenue 4 10,342,006 12,241,512

Cost of operating revenue ( 5,268,780) ( 6,563,043)

Gross operating profit 5,073,226 5,678,469

Other operating income 5 2,172,352 5,448,887

7,245,578 11,127,356

Distribution and marketing expenses ( 866,431) ( 768,862)

Administrative expenses ( 1,217,276) (  1,272,578)

Employee benefits income/(expense) 14(i)(d),14(ii)(c) 22,600 ( 233,100)

( 2,061,107) ( 2,274,540)

Profit before income tax 6 5,184,471 8,852,816

Income tax 7 ( 1,181,296) ( 2,618,582)

Profit for the year 4,003,175 6,234,234

Other comprehensive income

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement loss on obligation 14(i)(e),14(ii)(d) ( 208,900) ( 151,000)
Remeasurement loss on plan assets 14(i)(e) ( 56,000) ( 490,900)
Change in effect of asset ceiling 14(i)(e) 242,300 979,400
Income tax on other comprehensive income ( 24,854) ( 104,252)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax ( 47,454) 233,248

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,955,721 6,467,482

Profit attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 3,183 175
Stockholders’ interests 8 3,999,992 6,234,059

4,003,175 6,234,234

Total comprehensive income attributed to:
Non-controlling interests 3,183 175
Stockholders in parent 3,952,538 6,467,307

3,955,721 6,467,482

Earnings per ordinary stock unit 8 824.00¢ 1,284.21¢

Arising from:
Normal operations 547.85¢ 551.16¢
Non-routine transactions (see note 5), net of tax 276.15¢ 733.05¢

824.00¢ 1,284.21¢

*See note 21
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CARRERAS LIMITED

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Year ended March 31, 2014

Notes 2014 2013
$'000 $'000

(Restated)*

Operating revenue 4 10,342,006 12,241,512

Cost of operating revenue ( 5,268,780) ( 6,563,043)

Gross operating profit 5,073,226 5,678,469

Other operating income 5 894,871 5,342,477

5,968,097 11,020,946

Administrative, distribution and marketing expenses ( 2,074,722) (  2,001,649)

Employee benefits expense 14(i)(d),14(ii)(c) 22,600 ( 233,100)

Profit before income tax 6 3,915,975 8,786,197

Income tax 7 ( 713,297) ( 2,603,214)

Profit for the year 3,202,678 6,182,983

Other comprehensive income

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement gain on obligation 14(i)(e),14(ii)(d) ( 208,900) (     151,000)
Remeasurement loss on plan assets 14(i)(e) ( 56,000) (     490,900)
Change in effect of asset ceiling 14(i)(e) 242,300 979,400
Income tax on other comprehensive income 5,650 ( 101,250)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income net of tax ( 16,950) 236,250

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,185,728 6,419,233

*See note 21
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



CARRERAS LIMITED  42

Group Statement 
of Financial Position

March 31, 2014



43Annual Report 2013-2014

Company Statement
of Financial Position

March 31, 2014



CARRERAS LIMITED  44

Group Statement
of Changes in Equity

Year ended March 31, 2014

Share
capital Unappropriated

(note 16) profits
$'000 $'000

Balances at March 31, 2012 121,360 925,111

Profit for the year as previously reported - 6,538,069

Impact of change in accounting policy
(note 21) - ( 304,010)

Profit for the year as restated - 6,234,059

Remeasurement of employee benefits 
assets and obligation, net of taxes - 236,250

Deferred tax on reserves of subsidiary
in liquidation - ( 3,002)

Total comprehensive income for the year - 6,467,307

Dividends and distributions (note 23),
being total transactions with owners - (5,723,338)

Balances at March 31, 2013 121,360 1,669,080

Profit for the year - 3,999,992

Remeasurement of employee benefits
assets and obligation, net of taxes - ( 16,950)

Deferred tax on reserves of subsidiary in liquidation - ( 30,504)

Total comprehensive income for the year - 3,952,538

Transactions with owners
Transfers - 1,870,762

Transfer tax paid on intra-group distributions - (     24,075)

Dividends and distributions (note 23) - (3,417,498)

Total transactions with owners - (1,570,811)

Balances at March 31, 2014 121,360 4,050,807

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Capital Other Total
reserves reserve attributable to Non-controlling
(note 17) (note 17) stockholders interests Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

22,322 1,870,762 2,939,555 4,776 2,944,331

- - 6,538,069 175 6,538,244

- - ( 304,010) - ( 304,010)

- - 6,234,059 175 6,234,234

- - 236,250 - 236,250

- - ( 3,002) - ( 3,002)

- - 6,467,307 175 6,467,482

- - (5,723,338) - (5,723,338)

22,322 1,870,762 3,683,524 4,951 3,688,475

- - 3,999,992 3,183 4,003,175

- - ( 16,950) - ( 16,950)

- - ( 30,504) - ( 30,504)

- - 3,952,538 3,183 3,955,721

- (1,870,762) - - -

- - (     24,075) - (     24,075)

- - (3,417,498) (1,400) (3,418,898)

- (1,870,762) (3,441,573) (1,400) (3,442,973)

22,322 - 4,194,489 6,734 4,201,223
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CARRERAS LIMITED

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended March 31, 2014

Share Capital
capital Unappropriated reserves

(note 16) profits (note 17) Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balances at March 31, 2012 121,360 907,688 22,322 1,051,370

Profit for the year as previously reported - 6,486,993 - 6,486,993
Impact of change in accounting policy

(note 21) - ( 304,010) - ( 304,010)

Profit for the year as restated - 6,182,983 - 6,182,983
Remeasurement of employee benefit 

assets and obligations, net of tax - 236,250 - 236,250

Total comprehensive income for the year - 6,419,233 - 6,419,233

Dividends and distributions (note 23), being
total transactions with owners - (5,723,338) - (5,723,338)

Balances at March 31, 2013 121,360 1,603,583 22,322 1,747,265

Profit for the year - 3,202,678 - 3,202,678
Remeasurement of employee benefit 

asset and obligation, net of tax - ( 16,950) - ( 16,950)

Total comprehensive income for the year - 3,185,728 - 3,185,728

Dividends and distributions (note 23), being
total transactions with owners - (3,417,498) - (3,417,498)

Balances at March 31, 2014 121,360 1,371,813 22,322 1,515,495

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CARRERAS LIMITED

Group Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2014

2014 2013
Notes $'000 $'000

(Restated)*
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year 4,003,175 6,234,234
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 15 50,556 46,616
Employee benefits 38,700 216,500
Income tax expense 7 1,181,296 2,618,582
Foreign exchange gains ( 88,953) (   160,582)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment ( 1,502) (          597)
Investment income earned ( 174,719) ( 158,294)

5,008,553 8,796,459
Changes in:
Accounts receivable (1,335,532) 23,612
Inventories 103,873 (   171,592)
Accounts payable ( 196,341) 404,313

Cash generated from operations 3,580,553 9,052,792
Income tax paid (1,034,233) (1,946,577)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,546,320 7,106,215

Cash flows from investing activities
Resale agreements, net 1,565,043 (   732,434)
Investment income received 176,194 153,378
Additions to property, plant and equipment 15 ( 101,294) (     60,119)
Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,258 600

Net cash provided/(used) by investing activities 1,646,201 ( 638,575)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends and distributions, being net cash used by

financing activities 23 (3,418,898) (5,723,338)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
before effect of foreign exchange rate changes 773,623 744,302

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 88,953 160,582

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,359,459 1,454,575

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 3,222,035 2,359,459

*See note 21
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CARRERAS LIMITED

Company Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2014

2014 2013
Notes $'000 $'000

(Restated)*

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 3,202,678 6,182,983
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 15 50,556 47,562
Employee benefits 38,700 216,500
Gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment ( 1,502) (          597)
Foreign exchange gains ( 35,366) (   105,078)
Income tax expense 7 713,297 2,603,214
Investment income earned ( 163,534) ( 147,756)

3,804,829 8,796,828
Changes in:

Accounts receivable ( 460,581) 25,500
Inventories 103,873 (   171,592)
Accounts payable 670,775 416,344

Cash generated from operations 4,118,896 9,067,080
Income tax paid (1,566,123) (1,943,740)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,552,773 7,123,340

Cash flows from investing activities
Investments, net 1,539,452 (   741,571)
Investment income received 165,108 141,132
Additions to property, plant and equipment 15 ( 101,294) (     60,119)
Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,258 600

Net cash provided/(used) by investing activities 1,609,524 ( 659,958)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends and distributions, being net cash used by

financing activities 23 (3,417,498) (5,723,338)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
before effect of foreign exchange rate changes 744,799 740,044

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 35,366 105,078

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,850,680 1,005,558

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 2,630,845 1,850,680

*See note 21
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CARRERAS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2014

1. Identification and principal activity

Carreras Limited (“the company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica and is listed on the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange. It is a 50.4% subsidiary of Rothmans Holdings (Caricom) Limited, which is 
incorporated in St. Lucia. The ultimate parent company is British American Tobacco plc, incorporated in 
the United Kingdom and listed on the London Stock Exchange. The principal activities of the company 
are the marketing and distribution of cigarettes.

The address of the principal place of business and the registered office of the company is Twickenham 
Park, St. Catherine, Jamaica.

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance:

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, 
and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act.

New and revised standards and interpretations that became effective during the year

Certain new IFRS, interpretations of, and amendments to, existing standards which were in issue, 
came into effect for the current financial year.  That which management considered relevant to the 
company are as follows:

• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, has been amended (effective July 1, 2012). As 
a result, items of other comprehensive income (OCI) that may be reclassified to profit or 
loss in the future are presented separately from those that would never be reclassified to 
profit or loss.  Also, the title of the statement has changed from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income to Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

• IAS 19 Employee Benefits (effective January 1, 2013) has been amended to require all 
actuarial gains and losses to be recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. It 
also requires the expected return on plan assets recognized in profit or loss to be calculated 
based on the rate used to discount the defined benefit obligation. The amendment also 
includes changes to the definitions and disclosure requirements in the current standard. 

As a result of the amendments to the standard, the expected return on plan assets has been 
recalculated and the amount is now included in other comprehensive income rather than 
profit or loss as previously shown. This has resulted in a restatement of the prior year 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (see note 21).

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective January 1, 2014) supersedes IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and provides a single model to be applied 
in the control analysis for all investees, including entities that currently are Special Purpose 
Entities. The consolidation procedures are carried forward from IAS 27 (2008).  The 
adoption of this standard had no impact on the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2014

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d):

• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2013, replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual 
IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement guidance. It defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for 
fair value measurements. IFRS 13 explains ‘how’ to measure fair value when it is required 
or permitted by other IFRSs. IFRS 13 does not introduce new requirements to measure 
assets or liabilities at fair value, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair 
value measurements that currently exist in certain standards. It defines fair value as the price 
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the group applied the new fair 
value measurement guidance prospectively and has not provided any comparative 
information for new disclosures.  Notwithstanding the above, the change had no significant 
impact on the measurement of assets and liabilities in the financial statements.

New and revised standards and interpretations that are not yet effective

At the date of approval of the financial statements, certain new and revised standards and 
interpretations were in issue but are not yet effective and have not been early-adopted.
Management has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, amendments and interpretations 
with respect to its operations and has concluded as follows:

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2017 (previously January 1, 2015). The standard retains but simplifies the mixed 
measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial 
assets: amortised cost and fair value. It eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held-to-
maturity, available-for-sale and loans and receivables. For an investment in an equity 
instrument which is not held for trading, the standard permits an irrevocable election, on 
initial recognition, to present all fair value changes from the investment in other 
comprehensive income. The standard includes guidance on classification and measurement 
of financial liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss and incorporates certain 
existing requirements of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on 
the recognition and de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

• Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
financial Assets (effective January 1, 2014) reverse the unintended requirement in IFRS 13 
Fair Value Measurement, to disclose the recoverable amount of every cash-generating unit 
to which significant goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets have been allocated. The 
amendment requires the recoverable amount to be disclosed only when an impairment loss 
has been recognised or reversed. 

• Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of 
interest in Other Entities and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
(effective January 1, 2014). The amendments define an investment entity and require a 
parent that is an investment entity to measure its investments in particular subsidiaries at fair 
value through profit or loss, instead of consolidating those subsidiaries in its financial 
statements. In addition, the amendments introduce new disclosure requirements related to 
investment entities in IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 27 Separate 
financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2014

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d):

• Improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 cycles contain amendments to certain 
standards and interpretations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
July 1, 2014. The main amendments applicable to the company are as follows:

− IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement is amended to clarify that issuing of the standard and 
consequential amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9 did not intend to prevent entities from 
measuring short-term receivables and payables that have no stated interest rate at their 
invoiced amounts without discounting, if the effect of not discounting is immaterial.

− IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets. The standards 
have been amended to clarify that, at the date of revaluation:

(i) the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the 
revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation 
(amortization) is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying 
amount and the carrying amount of the asset after taking account of accumulated 
impairment losses or

(ii) the accumulated depreciation (amortization) is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset.

− IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures has been amended to extend the definition of ‘related 
party’ to include a management entity that provides key management personnel services 
to the reporting entity, either directly or through a group entity.  For related party 
transactions that arise when key management personnel services are provided to a 
reporting entity, the reporting entity is required to separately disclose the amounts that it 
has recognized as an expense for those services that are provided by a management 
entity; however, it is not required to ‘look through’ the management entity and disclose 
compensation paid by the management entity to the individuals providing the key 
management personnel services.

Management is assessing the impact, if any, that the amendments and new standards will have on 
its 2015-18 financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation:

The financial statements are presented on the historical cost basis. Unless otherwise stated, the 
financial statements are presented in thousands of Jamaica dollars ($’000), which is the functional 
currency of the company.

(c) Accounting estimates and judgements:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS and the Act requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and the reported amounts of, and disclosures related to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then ended.  
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and/or various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual amounts could differ 
from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2014

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(c) Accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d):

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty:

• Employee benefits:

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and statement of 
comprehensive income for pension and other post-employment benefits are determined 
actuarially using several assumptions. The primary assumptions used in determining the 
amounts recognised include expected long-term return on plan assets, the discount rate used 
to determine the present value of estimated future cash flows required to settle the pension 
and other post-employment obligations and the expected rate of increase in medical costs for 
post-employment medical benefits.

Any changes in these assumptions would impact the amounts recorded in the financial 
statements for these obligations.

• Allowance for losses:

In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses on receivables in the financial 
statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of impairment, that is, 
whether there are indicators that there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from resale agreements and receivables, for example, default and adverse 
economic conditions.  Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future cash 
flows of impaired receivables as well as the timing of such cash flows.  Historical loss 
experience is applied where indicators of impairment are not observable on individual 
significant receivables with similar characteristics, such as credit risks.

It is reasonably possible that outcomes within the next financial year that are different from these 
assumptions could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount reflected in the financial 
statements.

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of consolidation:

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the company.  Control exists when the company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain economic benefits 
from its activities.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The consolidated financial statements combine the financial position of the company and its 
subsidiaries as at March 31, 2014 and their results of operations and cash flows for the year then 
ended, after eliminating significant intra-group amounts. The company and its subsidiaries are 
collectively referred to in the financial statements as “the Group”.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2014

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits with banks.  Cash equivalents are short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments, rather than for investment or other purposes.  The amounts included are short-term 
fixed deposits.

(c) Resale agreements:

Securities purchased under resale agreements (‘resale agreements’) are short-term transactions in 
which the group makes funds available to other parties and in turn receives securities which it
agrees to resell on a specified date at a specified price.  Resale agreements are accounted for as 
short-term collateralised lending, and carried at amortised cost.

The difference between the purchase and resale consideration is recognised over the period of the 
contract using the effective interest method and is included in interest income.

(d) Accounts receivable:

Trade and other receivables are stated at amortised cost, less impairment losses.

(e) Inventories:

Inventories comprising finished products are valued at the lower of cost, determined principally on 
the weighted average cost basis, and net realisable value.  Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses.

(f) Accounts payable:

Accounts payable are stated at amortised cost.

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the group has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be estimated reliably.  If the 
effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

(g) Investment in subsidiaries:

The company’s investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost.

(h) Related parties:

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2014

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h) Related parties (cont’d):

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that 
person:

(a) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(b) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of 
the reporting entity;

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

(a) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that 
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity.

(e) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity.

(f) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the reporting entity 
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.

(g) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled, by a person identified in (i).

(h) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting 
entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

The company has related party relationships with its ultimate parent company, British American
Tobacco plc (BAT) and other subsidiaries and affiliates of the BAT Group, its subsidiaries, 
directors and key management personnel and companies with common directors.  “Key 
management personnel” comprises the group’s leadership team which includes executive directors 
and specified senior officers.

(i) Property, plant and equipment:

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of 
replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the part will flow to the 
group and its cost can be reliably measured.



55Annual Report 2013-2014

nOteS
to the Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31, 2014

17
CARRERAS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2014

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(i) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d):

The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred.

With the exception of freehold land, on which no depreciation is provided, property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of such assets, 
at the following annual rates:

Buildings 1.4% to 2.5%
Leasehold improvements 8% to 11%
Machinery, furniture and equipment 3.3% to 33.3%
Motor vehicles 20% to 33.3%

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually at each 
reporting date.

(j) Income tax:

Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is 
recognised in  profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

(i) Current income tax:

Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using 
tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to income tax payable in respect 
of previous years.

(ii) Deferred income tax:

Deferred income tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

(k) Foreign currencies:

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of 
those transactions. The group’s monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at the reporting date are translated to Jamaica dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at that date.  
Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates are included in profit or loss.

(l) Revenue recognition:

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts, volume rebates and sales taxes.

Revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer, receipt of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and 
possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing involvement with 
the goods.
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(m) Other operating income:

Other operating income includes interest income, gains on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment and refund of pension surplus.  Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the 
effective interest method.  

(n) Leases:

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on the straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease.

(o) Employee benefits:

Employee benefits comprising pensions and other post-employment assets and obligations 
included in these financial statements have been actuarially determined by a qualified 
independent actuary, appointed by management. The appointed actuary’s report outlines the 
scope of the valuation and the actuary’s opinion. The actuarial valuations are conducted in 
accordance with IAS 19, and the financial statements reflect the group’s and the company’s post-
employment benefits assets and obligations as computed by the actuary. In carrying out their 
audit, the auditors make use of the work of the actuary and the actuary’s report.

(i) Pension assets:

The company and its subsidiaries are participating employers in a pension scheme, the 
assets of which are held separately from those of the group, and remain under the full 
control of the appointed trustees.

The group’s net obligation in respect of its defined benefit pension scheme is calculated 
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods; that value is discounted to determine the present 
value, and the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted. To the extent that the 
obligation is less than the fair value of scheme assets, the asset recognised is restricted to 
the discounted value of unconditional future benefits available to the group in the form of 
any future refunds from the scheme or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To 
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable 
minimum funding requirements. The discount rate applied is the yield at the reporting 
date on long-term government instruments that have maturity dates approximating the 
terms of the group’s obligation. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if 
any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.  The 
company determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit 
liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit
liability/(asset), taking into account any changes during the period as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments.  Net interest expense and other expenses related to 
defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change 
in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.  The company recognises gains and losses on the settlement 
of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as 
an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

nOteS
to the Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31, 2014



57Annual Report 2013-2014

nOteS
to the Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31, 2014

19
CARRERAS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2014

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(o) Employee benefits (cont’d):

(ii) Other post-retirement health and group life insurance benefits:

The group provides post-retirement health care and group life insurance benefits, which are 
not entitlements, to certain of its retirees. These benefits are usually conditional upon the 
employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum 
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 
employment, using a methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans and the 
present value of future benefits at the reporting date is shown as an obligation on the 
statement of financial position.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in a manner similar to the defined benefit pension 
plan.

(iii) Other employee benefits:

Employee leave entitlements are recognised as they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for vacation and sick leave, as a result of services rendered 
by employees up to the reporting date.

(p) Impairment:

The carrying amounts of the group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable 
amount is estimated at each reporting date.  

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount:

The recoverable amount of investments in loans and receivables is calculated as the present 
value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate 
inherent in the asset.  An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale investment is 
calculated by reference to its current fair value.  Receivables with a short duration are not 
discounted.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in 
use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(ii) Reversals of impairment:

An impairment loss in respect of receivables is reversed if the subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
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3. Significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

(p) Impairment (cont’d):

(ii) Reversals of impairment (cont’d):

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Reversal of impairment losses is recognised in profit or loss, except for available-for-sale 
equity securities, which is recognised in other comprehensive income.

(q) Determination of profit or loss:

Profit is determined as the difference between the revenues from the goods and services rendered 
and the costs and other charges incurred during the year.  Profits on transactions are taken in the 
year in which they are realised.  A transaction is realised at the moment of delivery.  Losses are 
taken in the year in which they are realised or determinable. 

(r) Segment reporting:

A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged either in providing products 
(business segment), or in providing products within a particular economic environment 
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other 
segments.

The group’s activities are limited to the distribution of cigarettes to Jamaican consumers, operating 
in a single segment  As such no segment information is provided.

(s) Financial instruments:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.  For the purpose of these financial 
statements, financial assets have been determined to include cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable.  Similarly, financial liabilities mainly comprise accounts payable.

(t) Fair value:

Definition of fair value:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Market price is used to 
determine fair value where an active market exists as it is the best evidence of the fair value of a 
financial instrument.  

Determination of fair value:

The company’s financial instruments lack an available trading market. The fair value of all 
financial instruments included in current assets and current liabilities are considered to 
approximate their carrying values, due to their short-term nature.  The fair values of amounts due 
from and due to subsidiary companies are assumed to approximate carrying values.  The fair value 
of the underlying securities of resale agreements is based on the bid price of the securities at the 
end of the reporting period.

(u) Dividends and distributions:

Dividends and distributions are recognised in the period in which they are declared.
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4. Operating revenue

Operating revenue for the group and the company represents the invoiced value of products and services 
sold and includes special consumption tax aggregating $4,342,554,000 (2013: $6,004,787,000).

5. Other operating income
The Group The Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest income:
Cash and cash equivalents 172,845 80,354 163,534 71,426
Resale agreements 1,874 77,940 - 76,330

Exchange gains 88,953 160,580 35,366 105,076
Gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment 1,502 597 1,502 597
Refund of pension surplus* - 5,083,600 - 5,083,600
Intra-group capital distribution, net - - 574,656 -
Unclaimed dividends written back 67,304 - 67,304 -
Interest on tax recoverable (note 26)* 1,787,365 - - -
Miscellaneous income 52,509 45,816 52,509 5,448

2,172,352 5,448,887 894,871 5,342,477

*Non-routine transactions (see note 8).

6. Profit before income tax

The following are among the items charged in arriving at profit before income tax:

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Depreciation 50,556 46,615 50,556 47,562
Auditors' remuneration 6,731 6,171 6,159 5,599
Directors’ emoluments:

Fees 6,099 6,028 6,099 6,028
Management remuneration 42,570 44,617 42,570 44,617

7. Income tax

The Group:

(a) Income tax is computed at 25% (2013: 30%) of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation 
purposes, and is made up as follows:

2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Current:
Provision for charge on current year’s profit 1,067,255 2,685,383
Adjustment in respect of prior year’s provision ( 105,198) 8,140

962,057 2,693,523
Deferred:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
(note 18) 219,239 ( 74,941)

1,181,296 2,618,582
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7. Income tax (cont’d)
(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate and charge:

The Group (cont’d):
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Profit before taxation 5,184,471 8,852,816

Computed "expected" tax charge at 25% (2013: 30%) 1,296,118 2,655,845
Taxation difference between profit for financial

statements and tax reporting purposes on –
Effect of tax losses 304 404
Depreciation and capital allowances 11,238 (       8,531)
Gain on sale of investments and fixed assets ( 668) (          180)
Foreign exchange gains 6,949 (     38,703)
Prior year (under)/over provision (   105,198) 8,140
Capital income ( 16,826) -
Effect of change in tax rate ( 30,045) 2,492
Other adjustments 19,424 ( 885)

Actual tax charge 1,181,296 2,618,582

Effective tax rate 22.79% 29.58%
(c) At March 31, 2014 taxation losses in subsidiaries, subject to agreement by Tax Administration 

Jamaica, amounted to approximately $778,710,000 (2013: $838,768,000).

The Company:
(d) Income tax is computed at 25% (2013: 30%) of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation 

purposes, and is made up as follows:
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Current:
Provision for charge on current year’s profit 828,499 2,669,901
Adjustment in respect of prior year’s provision ( 105,198) 8,140

723,301 2,678,041
Deferred:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
(note 18) ( 10,004) ( 74,827)

713,297 2,603,214

(e) Reconciliation of effective tax rate and charge:
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Profit before taxation 3,915,975 8,786,197

Computed "expected" tax charge at 25% (2013: 30%) 978,994 2,635,859
Taxation difference between profit for financial

statements and tax reporting purposes on –
Depreciation and capital allowances 11,238 (       8,531)
Gain on sale of investments and fixed assets ( 668) (          180)
Unrealised foreign exchange gains - (     28,346)
Prior year (over)/under provision (   105,198) 8,140
Effect of change in tax rate (     30,003) (       3,129)
Capital income ( 141,066) ( 599)

Actual tax charge 713,297 2,603,214
Effective tax rate 18.22% 29.63%
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8. Earnings per ordinary stock unit

Earnings per ordinary stock unit is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to stockholders by the 
485,440,000 stock units in issue in both 2014 and 2013, as follows:

2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Profit for the year attributable to stockholders from normal operations 2,659,468 2,675,539
Effect of non-routine transactions (see note 5), net of tax 1,340,524 3,558,520

3,999,992 6,234,059

9. Cash and cash equivalents 

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Demand and call deposits 1,487,961 1,840,483 903,538 1,382,767
Short-term fixed deposits 1,734,074 518,976 1,727,307 467,913

3,222,035 2,359,459 2,630,845 1,850,680

10. Resale agreements

As at March 31, 2014, the market value of the underlying securities, all of which are Government of 
Jamaica securities, was $Nil and $Nil (2013: $1,593,377,327 and $1,567,693,735) for the group and the 
company, respectively.

11. Accounts receivable
The Group The Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Trade accounts receivable 595,002 129,356 595,002 129,356
Interest receivable 10,149 11,624 10,004 11,578
Interest receivable on tax recoverable (note 26) 875,365 - - -
Prepayments 47,127 15,900 47,127 15,900
Other receivables and advances:

Pension scheme - 5,792 - 5,792
Other related parties 122,915 110,061 122,915 110,061
Other 9,107 50,172 8,055 48,706

1,659,665 322,905 783,103 321,393
Less: Allowance for impairment losses ( 10,291) ( 7,588) ( 10,291) ( 7,588)

1,649,374 315,317 772,812 313,805

During the year, net bad debts recognised in profit or loss aggregated $2,703,000 (2013: $1,957,000) for 
the group and the company.

The group and the company’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade 
and other receivables are disclosed in note 22.
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12. Income tax recoverable

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Taxes withheld 359,723 117,437 47,033 35,928
Income tax recoverable (note 26) 945,991 - - -

1,305,714 117,437 47,033 35,928

13. Accounts payable
The Group The Company 

2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Trade accounts payable 82,009 106,069 82,009 106,069
General consumption tax payable 46,831 73,283 46,831 73,283
Related parties 127,191 370,217 998,337 369,707
Employee related 113,581 53,624 113,581 53,624
Unclaimed dividends 655,961 695,811 653,912 694,546
Other 160,800 83,710 148,441 75,107

1,186,373 1,382,714 2,043,111 1,372,336

Article 117 of the Articles of Association provides that dividends declared after the date of adoption of 
this Article which remain unclaimed after a period of twelve years from the date of declaration shall be 
forfeited and revert to the Company.

14. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation

The Carreras Group Limited Superannuation Scheme (“the old scheme”) was discontinued with effect 
from  December 31, 2006 and is being wound up in accordance with the rules, applicable legislation and 
subject to the oversight of the Financial Services Commission (“FSC”).  Benefit improvements have 
been agreed for the pensioners, deferred pensioners and active members of the old scheme.  

A replacement fund, the Carreras Limited Superannuation Fund (“the new fund”) was established with 
effect from January 1, 2007.  The new fund is divided into two sections – a defined benefit (DB) section 
and a defined contribution (DC) section.  The employees who were members of the old scheme are now 
participating in the DB section of the new fund whilst the individuals employed after December 31, 
2006, are participating in the DC section of the new fund. 

The liabilities in respect of current pensioners and deferred pensioners, who opted to transfer the value 
of their pension entitlement in the old scheme to the DB section of the new fund to provide for all future 
pension payments, have been transferred to the DB section.  The liabilities in respect of the active 
members who became members of the new fund and opted to transfer the total or a part of their past 
service to the new fund have also been transferred.

The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position in respect of retirement benefits are as 
follows: 

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Pension benefits (   349,300) (   409,500)
Post employment health and group life insurance benefits 194,100 193,000
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14. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation (cont’d)

The amounts recognised are computed as follows:

(i) Pension benefits:

(a) Asset recognised in the statement of financial position:

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Present value of funded obligations 2,680,700 2,423,600
Fair value of plan assets (3,806,600) (3,759,400)

Present value of net obligations (1,125,900) (1,335,800)
Unrecognised amount due to limitation 776,600 926,300

Asset recognised in statement of financial position ( 349,300) ( 409,500)

(b) Movements in the net asset recognised in the statement of financial position:

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Net asset at beginning of the year (   409,500) ( 268,200)
Contributions paid (       6,900) ( 7,800)
Refund from old scheme 77,700 -
Expenses recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income ( 10,600) ( 133,500)

Net asset at end of the year ( 349,300) ( 409,500)

(c) Movements in plan assets:
The Group and the Company

2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 3,759,400 8,938,000
Interest income on plan assets 364,800 670,300
Contributions paid 16,100 17,900
Benefits paid (   200,000) (   292,300)
Distribution of surplus - (5,083,600)
Refund from old scheme (     77,700) -
Remeasurement loss on assets ( 56,000) ( 490,900)

Fair value of plan assets at end of the year 3,806,600 3,759,400

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Plan assets consist of the following:
Equities 530,300 454,200
Real property 571,700 577,200
Resale agreements 2,700,800 2,650,500
Leased assets 1,900 5,100
Net current assets 1,900 72,400

3,806,600 3,759,400
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14. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation (cont’d)

(i) Pension benefits (cont’d):

(d) Expenses recognised in profit for the year:
The Group and the Company

2014 2013
$'000 $'000

(Restated)*

Current service costs 25,800 23,700
Interest cost on obligation 235,600 220,300
Interest income on assets (364,800) (670,300)
Interest on effect of asset ceiling 92,600 635,400
Gain on curtailment ( 30,600) -

( 41,400) 209,100

(e) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income:
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

(Restated)*

Change in effect of asset ceiling (242,300) (979,400)
Remeasurement loss on plan assets 56,000 490,900
Remeasurement loss on obligation 217,100 145,900

30,800 (342,600)

(f) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages):

2014 2013
% %

Discount rate 9.5 10.0
Future salary increases 6.5 6.5
Future pension increases 5.5 5.5

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on PA (90) Tables with ages reduced by six 
years.

(g) Plan assets include ordinary stock units issued by the company with a fair value of 
$107,554,000 (2013: $153,715,000).  

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits:

(a) Liability recognised in the statement of financial position:

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Present value of funded obligations, 
being liability recognised in statement 

of financial position 194,100 193,000

*See note 21
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14. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation (cont’d)

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits (cont’d):

(b) Movements in the net liability recognised in the statement of financial position:

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Net liability at the beginning of the year 193,000 172,700
Contributions paid ( 9,500) (    8,800)
Expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income 10,600 29,100

Net liability at the end of the year 194,100 193,000

(c) Expense recognised in profit for the year:
The Group and the Company

2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Current service costs 7,000 6,500
Interest on obligation 19,300 17,500
Gain on curtailment ( 7,500) -

18,800 24,000

(d) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income:

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Remeasurement (gain)/loss on obligation ( 8,200) 5,100

(e) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages):

2014 2013
% %

Discount rate 9.5 10.0
Annual increase in health-care costs 8.0 9.0

(f) Reasonably possible changes to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other 
assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts 
shown below:

The Group and the Company
One percentage One percentage
point increase point decrease

2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Discount rate 169,700 225,100
Medical cost trend rate 216,900 162,800
Future salary growth 7,900 7,100
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15. Property, plant and equipment

The Group:
Work-in-progress,

Buildings machinery, furniture,
Freehold and leasehold equipment

land improvements and vehicles Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost:
March 31, 2012 342 93,631 347,554 441,527
Additions - 4,567 55,552 60,119
Disposals and write offs - - ( 21,200) ( 21,200)

March 31, 2013 342 98,198 381,906 480,446
Additions - 101,294 - 101,294
Disposals and write offs - ( 280) ( 21,231) ( 21,511)

March 31, 2014 342 199,212 360,675 560,229

Depreciation:
March 31, 2012 - 49,748 246,629 296,377
Charge for the year - 6,235 40,381 46,616
Eliminated on disposals - - ( 21,197) ( 21,197)

March 31, 2013 - 55,983 265,813 321,796
Charge for the year - 6,530 44,026 50,556
Eliminated on disposals - - ( 16,755) ( 16,755)

March 31, 2014 - 62,513 293,084 355,597

Net book values:
March 31, 2014 342 136,699 67,591 204,632

March 31, 2013 342 42,215 116,093 158,650

The Company:
Freehold Machinery,
land and Work- furniture, equipment
buildings in-progress and vehicles Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cost:

March 31, 2012 84,616 24,087 275,592 384,295
Additions - 60,119 - 60,119
Transfers 4,567 (  81,663) 77,096 -
Disposals - - ( 21,200) ( 21,200)

March 31, 2013 89,183 2,543 331,488 423,214
Additions - 101,294 - 101,294
Transfers 15,550 ( 87,243) 71,693 -
Disposals - ( 280) ( 21,231) ( 21,511)

March 31, 2014 104,733 16,314 381,950 502,997
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15. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

The Company (cont’d):
Freehold Machinery,
land and Work- furniture, equipment
buildings in-progress and vehicles Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Depreciation:
March 31, 2012 42,905 - 188,257 231,162
Charge for the year 6,235 - 41,327 47,562
Eliminated on disposals - - ( 21,197) ( 21,197)

March 31, 2013 49,140 - 208,387 257,527
Charge for the year 6,530 - 44,026 50,556
Eliminated on disposals - - ( 16,755) ( 16,755)

March 31, 2014 55,670 - 235,658 291,328

Net book values:

March 31, 2014 49,063 16,314 146,292 211,669

March 31, 2013 40,043 2,543 123,101 165,687

16. Share capital
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Authorised:
485,440,000 (2013: 485,440,000) ordinary shares of

no par value

Stated:
Issued and fully paid:
485,440,000 (2013: 485,440,000) stock units of no par value 121,360 121,360

17. Other reserves
The Group The Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a) Capital 22,322 22,322 22,322 22,322
(b) Other - 1,870,762 - -

22,322 1,893,084 22,322 22,322

(a) This represents residual capital distribution on which transfer tax has been paid.

(b) This represents pre-acquisition reserves arising upon consolidation of a subsidiary. The amount was
made available for distribution net of transfer tax consequent on the settlement agreement disclosed 
in note 26 and was transferred to unappropriated profits during the year.
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18. Deferred tax asset/(liability)

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

The Group:

Assets Liabilities Net
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deferred tax on reserves of
subsidiary in liquidation - - (115,320) (  84,816) (115,320) (  84,816)

Accounts payable 3,130 3,749 - - 3,130 3,749
Property, plant and equipment 4,029 11,903 - - 4,029 11,903
Employee benefits 48,525 57,900 ( 87,325) (122,850) ( 38,800) (  64,950)
Accounts receivable - - (221,378) (    3,500) (221,378) (    3,500)
Unrealised foreign exchange

gain - - ( 13,368) - ( 13,368) -

55,684 73,552 (437,391) (211,166) (381,707) (137,614)

The Company:

Assets Liabilities Net
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accounts payable 3,130 3,749 - - 3,130 3,749
Property, plant and equipment 4,029 11,903 - - 4,029 11,903
Employee benefits 48,525 57,900 ( 87,325) (122,850) ( 38,800) ( 64,950)
Accounts receivable - - ( 2,501) (    3,472) ( 2,501) ( 3,472)
Unrealised foreign exchange

gain - - ( 2,974) - ( 2,974) -

55,684 73,552 ( 92,800) (126,322) ( 37,116) ( 52,770)

(b) Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows:

The Group:
2014

Balance at Recognised Recognised Balance at
31.03.13 in equity in income 31.03.14

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Deferred tax on reserves of 

subsidiary in liquidation (  84,816) ( 30,504) - (115,320)
Accounts payable 3,749 - (       619) 3,130
Property, plant and equipment 11,903 - ( 7,874) 4,029
Employee benefits (  64,950) 5,650 20,500 ( 38,800)
Accounts receivable (    3,500) - (217,878) (221,378)
Unrealised foreign exchange gain - - ( 13,368) ( 13,368)

(137,614) ( 24,854) (219,239) (381,707)
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18. Deferred tax asset/(liability) (cont’d)

(b) Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows (cont’d):

The Group (cont’d):

2013
Balance at Recognised Recognised Balance at
31.03.12 in equity in income 31.03.13

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deferred tax on reserves of 
subsidiary in liquidation (  81,814) ( 3,002) - (  84,816)

Accounts payable 2,199 - 1,550 3,749
Property, plant and equipment 4,937 - 6,966 11,903
Employee benefits (  31,833) (101,250) 68,133 (  64,950)
Accounts receivable ( 1,792) - ( 1,708) ( 3,500)

(108,303) (104,252) 74,941 (137,614)

The Company:
2014

Balance at Recognised Recognised Balance at
31.03.13 in equity in income 31.03.14

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accounts payable 3,749 - ( 619) 3,130
Property, plant and equipment 11,903 - ( 7,874) 4,029
Employee benefits ( 64,950) 5,650 20,500 ( 38,800)
Accounts receivable ( 3,472) - 971 ( 2,501)
Unrealised foreign exchange gain - - ( 2,974) ( 2,974)

( 52,770) 5,650 10,004 ( 37,116)

2013
Balance at Recognised Recognised Balance at
31.03.12 in equity in income 31.03.13

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accounts payable 2,199 - 1,550 3,749
Property, plant and equipment 4,937 - 6,966 11,903
Employee benefits (  31,833) (101,250) 68,133 (  64,950)
Accounts receivable ( 1,650) - ( 1,822) ( 3,472)

( 26,347) (101,250) 74,827 ( 52,770)

(c) The group has not recognised a deferred tax asset arising in subsidiaries amounting to $194,677,000 
(2013: $251,631,000) in respect of unutilised tax losses of subsidiaries because it is not probable that 
the subsidiaries will have sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future to realise this benefit (see 
note 7).
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19. Related party transactions

The financial statements include the following transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of 
business.

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Purchases from related companies - cigarettes 461,830 550,971
Technical fees paid to ultimate parent company 147,935 150,417
Technical fees paid to other related company 314,844 380,003
IT support fees paid to other related company 90,068 78,300
Pension schemes:

Lease of motor vehicles 11,408 12,755
Dividends paid 21,621 132,524

Key management personnel:
Short-term employee benefits 99,112 99,555
Post-employment benefits 2,455 5,251
Other long-term benefits 16,747 3,539

All related party transactions were undertaken in the normal course business. 

20. Staff costs 
The Group The Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Salaries and related costs 469,702 486,631 469,702 486,631
Statutory payroll contributions 42,084 39,174 42,084 39,174

511,786 525,805 511,786 525,805
Cost of post-retirement benefits, net ( 13,206) 242,876* ( 13,206) 242,876*

498,580 768,681 498,580 768,681

*Restated – See note 21

21. Prior year adjustment

As indicated in note 2(a), the Group adopted IAS 19 Employee Benefits Revised.  The change in 
accounting policy was applied retrospectively.  The effects of the adjustments are detailed below:

(a) Effect on profit or loss for the year ended March 31, 2013:

Group and Company
$’000

Employee benefit income 434,300
Deferred tax (130,290)

Decrease in profit for the year 304,010
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21. Prior year adjustment (cont’d)

(b) Effect on other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2013.

Group and Company
$’000

Remeasurement gain recognised in other
comprehensive income (434,300)

Deferred tax on remeasurement gain 130,290

Increase in other comprehensive income (304,010)

There was no impact arising on the statement of financial position from these adjustments as there were 
no prior year unrecognised gains or losses.

22. Financial instruments and risk management

The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

This note presents information about the group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the group’s and the company’s
management of capital.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s and 
the company’s risk management framework.  Senior management has responsibility for monitoring the 
group’s risk management policies and report to delegates of the Board of Directors on its activities, on a 
monthly basis.

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management 
policies are reviewed on a regular basis and reflect changes in market conditions and the group’s 
activities.

(i) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a counterparty to a financial contract failing to discharge 
its obligations, and arises principally from the group’s receivables from customers, cash and 
investment securities.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is represented by the carrying value of 
its financial assets.

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. Management has established a credit policy under which each customer is analysed for 
creditworthiness prior to being offered a credit facility. Each customer is given a credit period 
which represents the maximum time allowed for having balances outstanding; these are reviewed 
monthly. Management has procedures in place to restrict customer orders if the customers have not 
cleared outstanding debts within the credit period. Customers that fail to meet the group’s 
benchmark creditworthiness may transact business with the group on a cash basis.

Credit risk is monitored according to each customer’s characteristics, such as whether it is an 
individual or company, its geographic location, industry, aging profile, and financial history.
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22. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(i) Credit risk (cont’d):

Trade receivables (cont’d)

The group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in 
respect of trade receivables. 

The group’s average credit period on the sale of goods is 28 days for certain established large 
customers and 7 days for other customers.  Trade receivables over 90 days are reviewed and an 
allowance recognised for impairment for based on an estimate of amounts that would not be 
recoverable, determined by taking into consideration past default experience, current economic 
conditions and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer 
was:

The Group and the Company
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Wholesale customers 365,499 45,399
Retail customers 219,212 76,369

584,711 121,768

The age of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

The Group and the Company
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2014 2014 2013 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Not past due 506,881 - 44,921 -
Past due 7-30 days 66,332 - 73,330 -
Past due 31-365 days 13,123 ( 1,625) 3,735 ( 1,048)
More than one year 8,666 ( 8,666) 7,370 ( 6,540)

595,002 (10,291) 129,356 ( 7,588)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was 
as follows:

2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Balance at 1 April 7,588 5,631
Impairment loss recognised 2,703 1,957

Balance at 31 March 10,291 7,588

Cash and investments

Management has an investment policy in place and the group’s and the company’s exposure to 
credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Cash and investments are held with financial 
institutions which management considers to be sound and financially strong.  As it regards securities 
purchased under resale agreements, management has a policy of obtaining collateral in the form of 
pledged Government of Jamaica instruments.  
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22. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(ii) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates, will affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.

(a) Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates.

At the reporting date the interest profile of the company’s and the group’s interest-bearing 
financial instruments was:

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Variable rate instruments:
Cash and cash equivalents 3,222,035 1,962,025 2,630,845 1,474,820
Resale agreements - 1,565,043 - 1,539,452

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity 
and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.  

2014
The Group The Company

Profit and Equity Profit and Equity         
2% 1% 2% 1%

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents 64,441 (32,220) 52,617 (26,308)
Resale agreements - - - -

2013
The Group The Company

Profit and Equity Profit and Equity         
1% 1% 1% 1%

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents 31,240 (19,620) 29,496 (14,748)
Resale agreements 31,301 (15,650) 30,789 (15,395)
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22. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(ii) Market risk (cont’d):

(b) Foreign currency risk:

The group incurs foreign currency risk primarily on purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the Jamaica dollar.  The principal foreign currency risks of the group, 
represented by balances in the respective currencies, are as follows:

The Group:
2014 2013

US$ GBP (£) US$ GBP (£)
'000 '000 '000 '000

Cash and cash equivalents 9,376 158 13,750 917
Resale agreements - - 478 -
Related party receivables 1,122 - 1,113 -
Other receivables 3 - 7 -
Related party payables ( 784) ( 232) (  1,746) ( 1,033)
Other payables ( 11) - ( 127) ( 120)

Exposure, net 9,706 ( 74) 13,475 ( 236)

The Company:
2014 2013

US$ GBP (£) US$ GBP (£)
'000 '000 '000 '000

Cash and cash equivalents 4,693 13 9,105 774
Resale agreements - - 478 -
Related party receivables 1,122 - 1,113 -
Other receivables 3 - 7 -
Related party payables ( 784) ( 232) (  1,746) ( 1,033)
Other payables ( 11) - ( 72) ( 117)

Exposure, net 5,023 ( 219) 8,885 ( 376)

Sensitivity analysis

Strengthening or weakening of the currencies against the Jamaica dollar would have 
increased profit by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.  

The Group:
2014 2013

Increase/(decrease) in profit Increase/(decrease) in profit

1% 10% 1% 10%
Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

US ($) 10,635 (106,353) 13,325 (133,254)
GBP (£) ( 135) 1,348 ( 358) 3,583
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22. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(ii) Market risk (cont’d):

(b) Foreign currency risk (cont’d):

Sensitivity analysis (cont’d)

The Company:
2014 2013

Increase/(decrease) in profit Increase/(decrease) in profit

1% 10% 1% 10%
Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

US ($) 5,503 ( 55,031) 8,786 ( 87,858)
GBP (£) ( 399) 3,992 ( 571) 5,713

Exchange rates, in terms of Jamaica dollars, were as follows:

US$ £

At March 31, 2013: 98.8865 151.9019
At March 31, 2014: 109.5744 181.7720
At May 28, 2014: 111.2611 185.8522

(iii) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty 
in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  Liquidity problems 
may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value.  Prudent 
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and 
ensuring the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities.  The 
group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining a substantial portion of its financial assets in 
liquid form.  An analysis of the contractual maturities of the group’s and the company’s financial 
liabilities is presented below.  The analysis provided is by estimating timing of the amounts 
recognised in the statement of financial position.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

The Group:
Contractual undiscounted cash flows

Total
Carrying cash Within
amount outflow 1 year
$'000 $'000 $'000

At March 31, 2014:
Trade accounts payable 82,009 82,009 82,009
General Consumption Tax payable 46,831 46,831 46,831
Due to related parties 127,191 127,191 127,191
Employee related 113,581 113,581 113,581
Unclaimed dividends 655,961 655,961 655,961
Other payables 160,800 160,800 160,800

1,186,373 1,186,373 1,186,373
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22. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(iii) Liquidity risk (cont’d):

The Group (cont’d):
Contractual undiscounted cash flows

Total
Carrying cash Within
amount outflow 1 year
$'000 $'000 $'000

At March 31, 2013:
Trade accounts payable 106,069 106,069 106,069
General Consumption Tax payable 73,283 73,283 73,283
Due to related parties 370,217 370,217 370,217
Employee related 53,624 53,624 53,624
Unclaimed dividends 695,811 695,811 695,811
Other payables 83,710 83,710 83,710

1,382,714 1,382,714 1,382,714

The Company:
Contractual undiscounted cash flows

Total
Carrying cash Within
amount outflow 1 year
$'000 $'000 $'000

At March 31, 2014:
Trade accounts payable 82,009 82,009 82,009
General Consumption Tax payable 46,831 46,831 46,831
Due to related parties 998,337 998,337 998,337
Employee related 113,581 113,581 113,581
Unclaimed dividends 653,912 653,912 653,912
Other payables 148,441 148,441 148,441

2,043,111 2,043,111 2,043,111

At March 31, 2013:
Trade accounts payable 106,069 106,069 106,069
General Consumption Tax payable 73,283 73,283 73,283
Due to related parties 369,707 369,707 369,707
Employee related 53,624 53,624 53,624
Unclaimed dividends 694,546 694,546 694,546
Other payables 75,107 75,107 75,107

1,372,336 1,372,336 1,372,336

(iv) Capital management:

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders. The Board of Directors monitors the return on 
capital, which the group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity.

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  
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22. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(iv) Capital management (cont’d):

There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year. Also, the 
group is not exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements.

(v) Fair value disclosure:

Due to their short term nature, the amounts reflected in the financial statements for cash and cash 
equivalents, resale agreements, accounts receivable, related party balances, and accounts payable 
are considered to approximate to their fair values.  Additionally, the cost of all monetary assets and 
liabilities has been appropriately adjusted to reflect estimated losses on realisation or discounts on 
settlement.  

23. Dividends and distributions
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Declared and paid:
First quarter ended June 30, 2013

Special interim distribution June 20, 2013 - 94¢ 456,314 -
Ordinary - 130¢ (2012: 120¢) 631,072 582,528

Second quarter ended September 30, 2013
Ordinary 100¢ (2012: 150¢) 485,440 728,160

Third quarter ended December 31, 2013
Special interim distribution October 30, 2012 - 519¢ - 2,519,434
Ordinary - 100¢ (2012: 130¢) 485,440 631,072

Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2014
Special interim distribution January 30, 2014 - 118¢ (2013 - 120¢) 572,819 582,528
Ordinary - 162¢ (2013: 140¢) 786,413 679,616

Total dividends to stockholders 3,417,498 5,723,338

Distribution to non-controlling interests 1,400 -

3,418,898 5,723,338

24. Subsidiary companies

The subsidiary companies, all of which are incorporated in Jamaica, are as follows:

Percentage of ordinary shares held by 
Name of company Principal activity Company Subsidiary

2014 2013 2014 2013
% % % %

Cigarette Company of Jamaica Inactive (voluntary
Limited (In Voluntary Liquidation) liquidation in process) 99.99 99.99 - -

Sans Souci Development Dormant 100.00 100.00 - -
Limited and its subsidiary,

Sans Souci Limited Dormant - - 100.00 100.00
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25. Contractual commitments

Lease commitments under operating leases at March 31, are payable as follows:

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Within one year 10,859 15,207 10,859 15,207
Subsequent years 15,980 22,323 15,980 22,323

26,839 37,530 26,839 37,530

Payments made during the year ended March 31, 2014 aggregated:

2014 2013
$'000 $'000

The Group and Company 17,980 23,894

26. Tax assessment

In 2004, the company’s subsdiary, Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited (in voluntary liquidation) 
(“CCJ”) received assessments for income tax claimed by the Commissioner of Taxpayer Audit and 
Assessment, subsequently renamed Tax Administration Jamaica (TAJ), for the years 1997 to 2002 
amounting to $5.68 billion. CCJ appealed the assessment. Whilst the appeal was in progress, CCJ paid 
an amount of $1.73 billion to TAJ.

On March 13, 2012, after a series of judgements and appeals in lower courts, the Judicial Committee of 
the Privy Council handed down its decision dismissing the appeal of the TAJ with costs to CCJ. These 
costs have been taxed and recovered.

On December 30, 2013, the company reached an agreement with the TAJ and the Ministry of Finance & 
Planning (“the settlement agreement”), to recover the $1.73 billion plus interest of $1.78 billion on the 
outstanding sum. The interest receivable by CCJ has been fully recognised in these financial statements.

During the year, TAJ commenced refunds to CCJ by issuing offsets against the estimated tax liability of 
Carreras Limited in the aggregate amount of $1.70 billion. The company expects to recover a further 
$1.81 billion over the next twelve months.
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